Impacts of Perforated Sheet Pipe Installation on Some Soil Properties

イン、マー、ソー

https://hdl.handle.net/2324/4496106

出版情報:Kyushu University, 2021, 博士(農学), 課程博士 バージョン: 権利関係:



Impacts of Perforated Sheet Pipe Installation on Some Soil Properties

Yinn Mar Soe

Laboratory of Irrigation Water Management

Department of Agro-Environmental Sciences

Graduate School of Bio-resource and Environmental Sciences

Kyushu University

A thesis submitted for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy (Ph. D)

2021

Impacts of Perforated Sheet-Pipe Installation on Some Soil Properties

Yinn Mar Soe

2021

Declaration

I hereby declare that this submission is my own work in its entirety and that to the best of my knowledge, it contains no material previously published or written by other person nor materials extend has been accepted for the award of any other degree or diploma of the university of higher learning, except where due acknowledgement has been made in the text.

Yinn Mar Soe

I certify that the declaration above by the candidate is true to the best of my knowledge and that this report is acceptable for evaluation for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy.

Dr. Yoshiyuki SHINOGI (Professor)

Dr. Syuntaro HIRADATE

(Professor)

Dr. Yasumaru HIRAI

(Associate professor)

Date

Date

Date

Date

Abstract

One of the possible solutions to increase agricultural production under climate change is improving water use efficiency (WUE). It can be achieved by saving water and increasing soil water storage. Modern irrigation and drainage technologies intend to promote WUE. Moreover, these practices provide some benefits of controlling water quality, reducing soil salinity, and conserving soil erosion. Recently, it is highlighted that the improvement of drainage is still required, and this can solve the future food demand strategically.

Agricultural drainage is to remove excess water from farmland, and to create a better environment for crops. In agriculture, surface, subsurface drainage and combination of both ones are common field practices. Recently, it is expected that shallow subsurface drainage can accelerate the ability of drainage. Besides, it enables us to prevent water logging in root zone, higher groundwater table, and soil salinity. Shallow subsurface drain such as perforated sheet-pipe has been widely installed at rice paddy fields in Japan for about forty years.

Subsurface drainage enables to change physical, chemical and biological properties of soils due to water table fluctuation and above human induced practices including different cropping, land use, and water management. Under installation of sheet-pipe, it has not been clarified yet where drainage water passed through and why & how the sheet pipe functions. And when do these impacts appear after installation? Hence, the assessment of effective management and performance on such a shallow drainage system in paddy fields is new and becomes essential.

The main objective of this study is to investigate the impacts of the sheetpipe installation on changes in soil properties. Thus, we conducted three-field experiments separately in different regions of Japan. To confirm the performance of the sheet-pipe, we set up the preliminary trials in Kagoshima, Japan. The first research was conducted in Oita to investigate the impacts of some soil-characteristic changes and differences by the sheet-pipe for one rice cropping. Then, we continued to investigate the effects of the installed sheet-pipe on paddy soils for long-term in Fukuoka and Oita, Japan.

Some soil properties are expected to change and to be different under the sheet-pipe installation. To investigate these changes and some differences, we studied at Kunisaki, Oita. Two sets of soil samples were collected just after installation of sheet-pipe and after a rice cropping of the same field. Regarding the drainage stream sites along the sheet-pipe (upstream, midstream, downstream) at the field, distances from the sheet-pipe (0 m, 1 m, 2 m), and soil depths (10 cm, 25 cm, 45 cm), we studied changes and differences of some soil properties such as soil bulk density, soil organic carbon content, saturated hydraulic conductivity (-log Ks), macro-pores, mesopores, and plant-available water. During a rice cropping, we could not find significant impacts on some soil properties by the sheet pipe except larger pores. We observed larger mesoporous portion at 0 m and 1 m distance from the sheet-pipe at deeper soil layers (both 25 cm and 45 cm depth). As a result of the short term impact, the difference in macropores was not so significant. However, an increase in mesopores was supposed leading to develop macro-pores and cracks.

To understand the long-term impacts of the sheet pipe on some paddy soils, we made research at two places with different paddy soils and converted paddy soil. Using $(3 \times 3 \times 2)$ factorial design with three replications, we collected soil samples on farmland at Hisayama, Fukuoka, and Usa, Oita, Japan. In this study, the ages of installed sheet-pipe in Hisayama and Usa were seven years and fifteen years, respectively. This design based on three-stream sites (upstream, midstream, and downstream of the fields), three distances from the sheet pipe (0 m =above, 1 m and 2 m), and two soil depths of 10 cm and 25 cm, respectively.

We measured thirteen items of soil properties. As a result, there was some improvement in air-filled capacity and infiltration above the installed sheet pipe. Also, the soil bulk density near the sheet-pipe became smaller with a significant increase in soil organic carbon, and soil aggregation. All these characters promoted formation of soil macropores in deeper soil layer. The increase in porosity, especially in these macropores of soils allowed more water and air to pass through. These macro-pores assumed as cracks generated by the installed sheet-pipe under long-terms.

In sum, a change in larger mesopores near the sheet-pipe (0 m and 1 m) at the deeper soil layers, especially at downstream site was a short-term impact by the installed sheet-pipe. These pores were supposed leading to the development of small cracks including macropores for the long-term. In the long-term study, variations in soil physical and hydraulic properties were more noticeable than those in chemical properties. Major improvements were soil bulk density, aggregation, organic matter, saturated hydraulic conductivity, and air-filled capacity. These changes were observed near the sheet-pipe (at 0 m distance and 25 cm soil depth). An increase in total soil pores, especially macropores contributed to an improvement of air-filled capacity and much water passing through.

Our study enlightens that an increase in mesopores by short-term study and macro-pores by long-term study seem to be small cracks generated by the installed sheet-pipe. The development of such soil characteristics enhances to change in some hydrological, physical, and chemical properties of paddy soils.

Key words: paddy rice, perforated sheet-pipe, some soil properties, shallow subsurface drain.

v

Acknowledgement

Firstly, I would like to thank my promotor, Dr. Yoshiyuki SHINOGI for his constructive guide and kindly supervision to me while I was conducting research and writing manuscripts. His positive comments, critical discussions, some alternative ideas attracted me much more curious and to find learning centers. It was impossible to conduct field research throughout Kyushu from the south, Kagoshima to the north, Oita without his great help. I owe his great gratitude and it sank deeply at the bottom of my heart.

Secondly, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to co-promotors of the advisory academic committee members; Dr. Syuntaro HIRADATE (professor) and Dr. Yasumaru HIRAI (Associate professor), for their positive comments, careful reading, and supportive suggestions to the quality of my thesis. Additionally, I would like to extend my special thanks to Dr. Tomoyuki TANIGUCHI (Assistant Professor) for sharing his valuable time in reading manuscripts and giving his formatted comments.

I did not forget my special persons to thank who assisted me while I needed to conduct laboratory and field analyses. May I give my great respects to them, Dr. Tetsuro FUKUDA (Chair person, JASPiP, Kurume), Dr. Hiroyuki CHO (professor, Saga National University), Dr. Ieyasu TOKUMOTO (Assistant professor, Saga National University), Dr. Yuki MORI (Assistant Professor), Mr. Kozo ARITA (land owner in Takedazu, Kunusaki, Oita), Mr. Anand Mishra (Senior Ph.D student), administrative staff (Oita research Institute), and all my lab mates.

I would like to add my three princesses who helped and encouraged me to fight my Ph.D journey successfully when I got an accident. May I pay my appreciation to them, Dr. Soe Soe Thein (Pro-Rector), Dr. Hisako NOMURA (Lecturer) and Ms. Akiko SAKONO (JICA coordinator).

This study was a great opportunity to me when JICA-TCP, Japan International Cooperation Agency- Technical Cooperation Program, appeared with YAU, Yezin Agricultural University in Myanmar. Throughout this Ph. D study program, I received their financially and morally supports from both sides. This looked a brilliant radiant passed through a clear window to me. This made me a fruitful study, too and gave a positive environment to be professional in my work. Their kind supports warmed my heart.

I deeply thanks to Minister, Deputy- Ministers, Director (DAP), Rector (YAU), Pro-Rectors (YAU), Professor (Department of Soil and Water Science), and my work partners for their permission of my Ph. D study and taking and sharing my responsibilities and accountabilities instead of me while I was in abroad.

Last but not the least, my deepest appreciation to my beloved parents, U Aye Soe and Daw Hla Yin for always keeping me in their prayers and always letting me chase my dreams whatever they may be. I feel blessed to be their daughter. Let's be long life and living together with me healthy and happily.

Yinn Mar Soe

(August, 2021)

Table of Contents

Abstractiii
Acknowledgementvi
Table of Contentsviii
List of Tablesxii
List of Figuresxiii
List of Abbreviation and Acronymsxvi
Chapter 1 Introduction1
1.1 Research Background1
1.1.1 Subsurface Drainage as A Sustainable Water Management Tool1
1.1.2 Managing Soils with Subsurface Drainage in Agricultural Production 4
1.1.3 Prospects of Shallow Subsurface Drain in Paddy Soils6
1.1.4 What is A Sheet Pipe and How to Install in A Field?
1.2 Functions of Sheet Pipe as Shallow Subsurface Drain in Paddy Fields
(Preliminary Study)11
1.2.1 Introduction11
1.2.2 Materials and Methods11
1.2.3 Results14
1.2.4 Conclusion
1.3 Objectives of the Present Study24
1.4 Structure of the Present Study25

Chapter 2 Reviews of the Literature	27
2.1 Role of Agricultural Drainage under Climate Change	27
2.1.1 Challenges of Agricultural Field Drainage	29
2.1.2 Considerations for Drainage Development under Climate Chang	e 30
2.1.3 Drainage Systems: Surface, Subsurface, and Shallow Subsurface	34
2.1.4 Subsurface Drainage in Land Reclamation	37
2.2 Impacts of Subsurface Drainage on Paddy Soils	40
2.2.1 Environmental Impacts of Sub-Surface Drainage in Paddy Field.	40
2.2.2 Impacts on Crop Production by Sub-Surface Drainage in Paddy	
Field	42
2.2.3 Impacts on Soil Properties by Subsurface Drainage	43
Chapter 3 Short-term Impacts of Perforated Sheet-Pipe as Shallow Subsur	face
Drain on Paddy Soil Properties	47
Abstract	47
3.1 Introduction	48
3.2 Materials and Methods	49
3.2.1 Experimental Set up	49
3.2.2 Soil Sampling and Analyses	51
3.2.3 Statistical Analyses	52
3.3 Results and Discussion	53
3.3.1 General Properties of Soils	53
3.3.2 Changes and Difference in Soil Physical Properties	54

3.3.3 Relations between soil properties and saturated hydraulic	
conductivity	58
3.3.4. Average soil properties according to each factor	58
3.4 Discussion	61
3.5 Conclusion	62
Chapter 4 Long-term Impacts of Perforated Sheet-pipe as Shallow Subsur	face
Drain on Some Paddy Soils Properties	63
Abstract	63
4.1 Introduction	64
4.2 Materials and methods	66
4.2.1 Study Sites and Experimental Design	66
4.2.2 Soil Analysis	68
4.2.3 Statistical Analyses	70
4.3 Results and discussion	71
4.3.1 Impacts of Perforated Sheet Pipe Distances on Soil Physical	
Properties	71
4.3.2 Impacts of Perforated Sheet Pipe Distances on Soil Hydraulic	
Properties	77
4.3.3 Impacts of Perforated Sheet Pipe Distances on Soil Chemical	
Properties	82
4.4 Discussion	83
4.5 Conclusion	85

Chapter 5 General Conclusion and Future Recommendations	86
5.1 General Conclusions	86
5.2 Future Recommendations	
References	
Appendix	118
Index Table	118
Index Figure	119
Index Photo Section	119

List of Tables

Table 1.1 Soil texture and soil moisture at saturation of two study sites
Table 1.2 Comparison of water logged days in the selected two sites23
Table 3.1 Time schedule 50
Table 3.2 General characteristics of soils 53
Table 3.3 Comparison of infiltration test before and after rice cropping
Table 3.4 Comparison of average of some soil characteristics at different soildepths due to the same stream site and distance
Table 4.1 Textural classification at different soil depths of paddy soils
Table 4.2 Matrix of correlation coefficients for all measured soil properties in Hisayama, Fukuoka (n=54)
Table 4.3 Matrix of correlation coefficients for all measured soil properties in Usa, Oita (n=54) 76
Table 4.4 Changes in soil chemical properties by sheet pipe distances in two regions and its impact 82

List of Figures

Figure 1.1 Features of perforated sheet-pipe9
Figure 1.2 Installation of perforated sheet-pipe drains in a paddy field10
Figure 1.3 Map of study sites12
Figure 1.4 Comparison of soil moisture status at a) 5 cm, b)10 cm, and c) 30 cm soil depth between perforated sheet-pipe installation (with SP) and no-installation (0 SP) study in Isashi-Hishikarishimode, Kagoshima
Figure 1.5 Comparison of soil moisture status at a) 5 cm, b) 10 cm, and c) 30 cm soil depth between perforated sheet-pipe installation (with SP) and no-installation (0 SP) study in Kitakata, Kagoshima
Figure 1.6 Records of each drainage event in Isashi-Hishikarishimode, Kagoshima
Figure 1.7 Records of each drainage event in Kitakata, Kagoshima19
Figure 1. 8 Soil moisture changes (θ , cm ³ cm ⁻³) at three depths of 5 rainfall events (a, b, c, d, e) in Isashi-Hishikarimode, Kagoshima20
Figure 1.9 Soil moisture changes (θ, cm ³ cm ⁻³) at three depths of 5 rainfall events (a, b, c, d, e) in Kitakata, Kagoshima
Figure 2.1 Expansion of current world's cultivated area with no water management system and under irrigation and currently drained land
Figure 2.2 Agro-climatic zones

Figure 2.3 In a	a singular pipe drainage system, each drained pipe discharges in to
an	open collector drain
Figure 2.4 In a	a composite system, the collector drained pipe is buried
Figure 2.5 Exp	pected reclaimed land with subsurface drains
Figure 3.1 Ger	neral features of perforated sheet-pipe and its installation in the ld50
Figure 3.2 Cha (% (cr (Pa dis	anges and difference in a) soil bulk density, b) soil organic carbon (), c) saturated hydraulic conductivity ($-\log Ks$), d) macropores m ³ cm ⁻³), e) mesopores (cm ³ cm ⁻³), and f) plant available moisture AM, cm ³ cm ⁻³) at different soil depths, stream sites, and sheet pipe stances during a rice cropping
Figure 3.3 Rel a)	lationships between saturated hydraulic conductivity (-log <i>K</i> s) and bulk density, b) soil organic carbon, c) macro-pores, d) meso- res, and e) plant availabl moisture
Figure 4.1 Geo	ographic position of study sites, a) Hisayama and b) Usa67
Figure 4.2 Soi	Il sampling layout in the study sites67
Figure. 4.3 Ch she soi	hanges in soil physical properties in Hisayama due to perforated eet pipe distances at different soil depths: a) soil bulk density; b) il organic carbon; c) porosity; and d) stable aggregates
Figure 4.4 Cha at c	anges in soil physical properties in Usa due to sheet pipe distances different soil depths: a) soil bulk density; b) soil organic carbon; porosity; and d) stable aggregates
Figure 4.5 Cha	anges in soil hydraulic properties in Hisayama: a) saturated draulic conductivity (-log <i>K</i> s); b) plant available moisture (PAM);

	c) field capacity (FC); d) macropores (MaP); e) air-filled capacity	
	(AC); and f) mesopores (MeP).	.78
Figure 4.6	Changes in soil hydraulic properties in Usa: a) saturated hydraulic	
	conductivity (-log Ks); b) plant available water moisture (PAM); c	:)
	field capacity (FC); d) macropores (MaP); e) air-filled capacity	
	(AC); and f) mesopores (MeP).	.79

List of Abbreviation and Acronyms

AFC	-Air-filled Capacity
ANOVA	-Analysis of Variance
BD	-Bulk Density
CO ₃	-Carbonate
EC	-Electrical Conductivity
f	-Porosity
FC	-Field Capacity
-log Ks	-Negative Logarithm of Saturated Hydraulic Conductivity
MaP	-Macro Pores
MeP	-Meso Pores
SOC	-Soil Organic Carbon
pF	-Water Retention
pН	-Negative Logarithm of Hydrogen Ions Concentration
\mathbb{R}^2	-Coefficient of Determination
SP	-Sheet Pipe Distance
SD	-Soil Depth
SS	-Stream Sites
StoP	-Storage Pores
SWC	-Soil Water Characteristic Curve
TP	-Total Pores

Chapter 1

Introduction

1.1 Research Background

1.1.1 Subsurface Drainage as A Sustainable Water Management Tool

Based on United Nations (2019)'s prediction, the world population will increase to 9 billion by 2050. As a consequence, food demand for the hunger world and agricultural water withdrawal will increase. Currently, the global water requirement is competing with other uses such as domestic, sanitation, industry, energy, and recreation. On the other hand, water requirement in food production is imposed coupling with environmental stresses such as floods and droughts.

In the world, one in nine people still does not have enough food. Around 2.8 billion people face water scarcity at least one month every year (FAO *et al.*, 2020). Besides, all forms of life suffer from environmental pollutions, including land, water, and air (Iyyanki and Manickam, 2017). To solve these issues, Integrated Water Resource Management guides to manage renewable and nonrenewable water resource effectively. As water is a strategic driver of economic and social development, sustainable water management leads to maintaining harmony with the natural environment (Kumar *et al.*, 2019).

An unbalance environment due to extreme floods and droughts exposes a problematic plan for cultivation activities on-farm water management practices. These include micro and macro scales (WIF2, 2016). Based on this recognition, Watanabe (2016) proposed to modify the design and operation criteria for irrigation and drainage schemes. In addition, regional water management schemes should meet food security as well as climate change impacts.

Over decades, water use of agriculture has partly solved "more crop per drop" using deficit irrigation. The primary aim is to save water. Recently, root zone water management has been highlighted as a vital role, in which to improve soil water storage has labeled as a desirable one. Furthermore, it is known that soil water storage relies not only on irrigation but also on good drainage (Scheumann, and Freisem, 2002; Schultz *et al.*, 2009).

For drainage development, the international center for rural development approached with some strategies (ICID, 1996). The main tactic was to increase water use efficiency and water-saving by drainage. In this strategy, institutional reforms, government support for modernization, rehabilitation, and reclamation proposed as some implementing issues. Based on some reports, an increase in stakeholder participation was also necessary to succeed. Thereby, the transfer of systems, taking responsibilities, modernization, and cost recovery were influencing factors for that success. Most developed countries have already overcome lots of such issues with well drainage management. However, developing countries are still far from emerging such issues (Schultz, 2001). Hence, ICID and many international organizations are promoting the application of drainage technology, especially in the rural development planning of the developing countries. In their implementations, applying an improved science of drainage, generating new ideas & thoughts, disseminating the findings of (traditional and modern) lifeline for the sustainable application of drainage are involved. A significant output is solving the regional problems with strongly networking (Schultz, and Wrachien, 2002; Schultz, 2003).

Drainage water management is the practice of using water control structures such as surface ditch and or subsurface tile or mole to manage the water table in an agricultural field. By draining the excess water, the soil near the root zone becomes free from water-logging and well aerated. Besides, the soil structure changed to retain much water in the soil profile for use by the main crop. Other benefits of drainage are that it may reduce pollution from other dissolved and sediment attached substances, reduce downstream sedimentation, and reduce storm-water surges of freshwater into the estuarine area (Strock and Dalzell, 2014). Besides, the drained soil becomes warmer and this provides earlier germination and growth in spring. With drainage, the number of arable lands suitable for crop production is significantly increased (MRR, 2016).

Subsurface drainage means the process of directing excess water away from plant root zones naturally or artificially. Properly drained soils reduce water stress on crops. It promotes root development necessary for maximizing yields and the quality of crop production. It also allows for well-timed farm machinery operation. Besides, it has some benefits for minimizing soil compaction, controlling salinity, and decreasing annual variability in crop production. There are some opportunities for land conservation with minimum tillage on the drained land (Oosterban, 2017).

To extend much use of subsurface drainage in developing countries, analysis of subsurface drainage is still necessary. By doing so, subsurface drainage helps to ensure the productivity of agricultural land. It also maintains the conservation of natural resources in land reclamation projects (Chahar *et al.*, 2008). In the past, the use of a shallow drainage system had some positive impacts on the prevention of waterlogging. However, controlling soil salinization and its undesirable effects were uncertain (Christen and Skehan, 2001). Thus, the best management practices on different soils are still required to develop by the installed shallow subsurface drains (Christen and Hornbuckle, 2000). Nijland *et al.* (2005) also suggested that such shallow drainage on different soils for specific purposes and their impacts with short and long terms should conduct as future studies.

1.1.2 Managing Soils with Subsurface Drainage in Agricultural Production

Managing soil is essential not only to crop production (Horn and Fleige, 2009) but also to environmental protection (Ball *et al.*,1999). When soils are under compaction with poor drainage and aeration, agricultural production will face limited land preparation, traffic-ability, and crop growth & development. Under severe floods and drought, crop production was lost (FAO, 2006b).

In soil management tools, it is necessary to understand different functions in the soil-biosphere. Also, these functions are considered in improving crop production (Scheffer and Schachshaffel, 2002). These are; i) regulation of biogeochemical cycles, ii) changes in microorganism habitat, and iii) improvement of the medium for plant roots. Subjecting to the action of external forces (e.g. tillage and compaction), internal forces (e.g. wetting, drying cycles, and soil freezing), and biological activity (e.g. bio-pore formation by earthworms) change soil properties instantly. Facilitating drainage is one of the soil-water management tools (wetting and drying soils). Now we accept that subsurface drainage accentuates the variation of soil properties, such as percolation and storing the fluid in soil (Horn *et al*, 1994; Dörner and Horn, 2006).

Regarding artificial drainage, it is recognized that changing in soil structure and its dependent properties are not constant. For example, if the stable aggregates are destroyed during installing, we observed negative changes. However, some positive improvements occurred under tile drainage with different soil managements (Madramootoo *et al*, 2007). There were some examples of changing soil structures by the artificial drains. These affect not only for soil bulk density, but also a reduction or an increase of hydraulic conductivity (Hopkins, 2002; Huffman *et al.*, 2013). Consequently, water table changes observed (Schutz, 2003). Although these changes are depended on soil pore volume and pore continuity (Osunbitan *et al.*, 2005; Moret and Arrúe, 2007), quantification of different soil pores and roles of these pores by drainage are still unknown.

In the world, twenty-five million hectares of agricultural land has become unproductive due to irrigation-induced waterlogging and salinity. Fifty percent of the world's irrigated land suffers from drainage problems. Two hundred fifty million hectares of rain-fed cropland need improved drainage (Smedema *et al.*, 2000). The development of integrated management on drainage on agricultural land becomes important. Thus, FAO (2007) considered some actions for improving drainage. These were to prevent the accumulation of water in croproot zones, to reduce soil erosion from the stagnant muddy water, and to remove the toxic materials in the croplands.

The subsurface drainage in agricultural fields allows for soil improvement with physical, chemical, and biological characteristics. It provides suitable conditions for annual cropping through soil physical improvements. It also permits crop diversification with changes on soil structure through influencing saturated hydraulic conductivity and the effective porosity of soil (Talukolaee *et al.*, 2018). Moreover, subsurface drainage helps to reduce high water tables. By these means, better aeration of the root zone and the development of a deeper root structure ensured to increase crop production.

Drought stress later in the growing period and early spring seeding could be managed with subsurface drainage. Through subsurface drainage, the availability of nutrients increased and the risk of delayed harvesting reduced. Moreover, less damage to equipment, and less overlapping of inputs during field operations could be expected under subsurface drainage. Effective weed control was also observed by subsurface drainage (Fausey *et al.*, 1987).

Subsurface drainage improved the agricultural soils and their environment. It reduced the movement of sediment, nitrates, phosphorus, and some pesticides in the drained water and favored soil traffic-ability, field operations (Kornecki *et al.* 2001). Under the long term subsurface drainage, it had some improvements on soil properties together with conservation tillage. Groundwater table management with subsurface drainage has a distinct control in the reduction of soil salinity (Tiwari and Goel, 2017).

Some influences of subsurface drainage were observed at the upper soil layer. Changes in soil physical properties, such as soil bulk density, soil organic carbon content, aggregation, pH, and CEC near the installed pipe were some examples of influences by the subsurface drains (Vopravil *et al.*, 2017; Wealge *et al.*, 2019). Iron transformation, sulphate accumulation, leaching sodium, calcium, magnesium, and chloride were distinct under the installed subsurface drain in low-lying acid sulphate soils (Mathew *et al.*, 2001).

Such improvements are proposed as indicators for the success of subsurface drainage. Thus, Abdel-Dayam *et al.*, (2004) pointed a view that managing soils with subsurface drainage has been contributing to large increases in crop production in different parts of the world.

1.1.3 Prospects of Shallow Subsurface Drain in Paddy Soils

Paddy soils are managed by a singular way for the wet cultivation of rice including flooding, puddling, and maintaining a layer of standing water for the development of crop growth. Surface drainage, drying the fields, and re-flooding for the next rice crop is usually practiced in paddy soils (Ponnamperuma, 1972). Lowland paddy rice requires 24%–30% of the total world's fresh water withdrawals (Bouman and Van Laar, 2006). Only 500–1,000 liters of water uses to produce 1 kg of rough (unmilled) rice by transpiration. Much water in rice fields, lost by evaporation, seepage, and percolation. Hence, rice production in paddy soils must be viewed in the light of the emerging water crisis (Bouman, 2018).

Mostly, rice grows in Asia, especially in developing countries. Nowadays, these countries stand with the rapid growth of economies. Much water requirement for agriculture activities in these countries strictly competes with industry, energy, and household uses.

Current global climate change impacts on paddy productions with a great distinct. Paddy fields are the chief source of agricultural methane, CH₄ emissions (Kimura *et al.*, 2004; IPCC, 2014). 11% of global methane is emitting from paddy fields. It describes as one of the principal greenhouse gases. Its annual emission ranges between 493 and 723 Mt CO₂-eq yr⁻¹ in 2010. Another major greenhouse gas (GHG) emitting from rice fields is nitrous oxide, N₂O. Its emission is associated with soil water and nitrogen status (Wang *et al.*, 2011; Skinner *et al.*, 2014). However, globally rice production is not a significant source of N₂O emissions under anaerobic paddy conditions, in which a complete reduction of N₂O into N₂ occurs (Granli and Bøckman, 1994). These facts alarm us how to grow rice with effective water management in various outlooks.

Recent studies introduce some potential application of a modified water management system with dual purposes for subsurface irrigation and shallow subsurface drainage in paddy fields. Schult *et al.* (2007) remarked the improved drainage in paddy land (application of shallow subsurface drain) as one of the solutions to meet about 15% of the food demand through improving rice production over the next 25–30 years. Also, JASPiP (2014) proposed that installing the shallow subsurface drain helped to convert from lowland to upland and to facilitate the land operation for machinery use. Under the paddy soils in Iran, Talukolaee *et al.* (2018) assumed that a better rice yield by the installed shallow subsurface drain was related to an improvement of soils including an increase in saturated hydraulic conductivity and effective porosity.

Alternate wetting and drying (AWD), surface drainage with so-called shallow subsurface drainage, has some benefits in rice production. There were many scientific reports of uniform rice seedling establishment (Singh *et al.*, 2008) under such kind of water management scheme. Ease of weed control (Jabran and Chauhan, 2015) also observed. Furthermore, an improvement of rice morphological characters, achieving maximum grain yield (Avil Kumar *et al.* 2006; Yang and Zhang, 2010), and maximizing the water productivity of rice (Carrijo *et al.*, 2018) occurred. Besides, there was a minimizing of freshwater use (Rezaei *et al.*, 2009) in AWD. In terms of grain quality, AWD helps to reduce arsenic (As) content in rice grain that is a focal concern of health nowadays (Yang *et al.*, 2017).

Thus, the world water council (2018) encouraged to develop the effective water management scheme in the agricultural field including paddy. It also highlights the application of shallow subsurface drainage and irrigation as a better control scheme of water regarding the crop requirement. In addition, incorporated uses of subsurface drainage (including both deep and shallow) in many management levels should consider for future applications (Wanninger, 1999; Abdel-Dayam *et al.*, 2004).

1.1.4 What is A Sheet Pipe and How to Install in A Field?

Climate change with extreme floods & droughts nowadays overstresses rice production. Many kinds of literature exposed these solutions with different technologies (IPCC, 2019). In the case of India, waterlogging was combatted with subsurface drainage (Ritzema *et al.*, 2008). Japan extended subsurface shallow drainage systems in large size paddies for crop diversification to adapt to climate change (Ogino and Murashima, 1993). Shallow subsurface drains with sheet pipe in paddy fields can manage the soil with improving water use efficiency, including soil water storage (JASPiP, 2014). Thus, this association developed dual purposed with sheet-pipe to function both shallow subsurface irrigation and drainage. It named as SPIDI (Sheet Pipe Subsurface Drainage and Irrigation technology).

Sheet-pipe is a long & perforated plastic sheet (Figure 1.1 a) and made from polyethylene. The diameter of perforation is about 1 mm, and there are 532 pores in 1 m length. It has a rolling nature (Figure 1.1 b) with 7 kg weight per roll. It turns into a pipe with 50-70 mm in diameter when two ends of the sheet have folded during installing drainpipe in the field (Figure 1.1 b).

The perforated sheet-pipe can be installed in the field using the bulldozer with a mole drainer (Figure 1.2 a). First, the land is marked to install the sheet pipe with proper spacing. In this study, the spacing between two sheet-pipes is about 4 m. Then the land is vertically cut with a mole drainer assembled with the bulldozer according to the mark with consideration of the ground level (Figure 1.2 a). The mole drainer leaves a hole of 7-10 cm in diameter and a slit with a 4 cm width. After that, the sheet-pipe has installed at a depth of around 40 cm in line with the drain cutting.



532 holes m⁻¹

a



50-70 mm in diameter



7 kg roll⁻¹

Figure 1.1 Features of perforated sheet-pipe





Monitoring drainage with camera

Figure 1.2 Installation of perforated sheet-pipe drains in a paddy field

Sheet pipe is installed at a shallower soil depth, whereas the conventional tile drain is generally installed at least from 120 cm to 180 cm deep in the soil (Christen and Ayars, 2001). The addition of soil envelopes such as organic materials, straw, or gravels is not necessary around the sheet-pipe drains, whereas conventional pipes require the addition of such transition materials. Moreover, the installation of sheet-pipe is convenient in any irregular fields containing gravels, while traditional drains can only be in mostly uniform grounds with deep fine-textured soils. Installation of sheet pipe in agricultural land can be expected in time and labor efficient because of ease in transportation. An expectation of the installed sheet-pipe in the paddy field helps to improve soil aeration by an increase in ventilation inside the pipe (JASPiP, 2014).

Another significant character by the installed perforated sheet-pipe is assuming the generation of the vertical leg cracks. By inserting the sheet-pipe, there is a formation of a slit at the soil surface. Near the cylindrical channel from the pipe, there could be some fractures or cracks. These cracks can serve as a direct pathway of water from the soil surface to enter the perforated sheet-pipe. It makes to ensure quick drainage and drying (JASPiP, 2014).

1.2 Functions of Sheet Pipe as Shallow Subsurface Drain in Paddy Fields (Preliminary Study)

1.2.1 Introduction

Using perforated sheet-pipes as a shallow subsurface drain is a new technology to apply in paddy field and there are few papers to cite that. And hence, it is necessary to confirm its effectiveness & inefficiency logically and scientifically. Most studies of subsurface drains emphasize on designs and layouts with performance and function evaluations.

This study aimed to investigate the soil moisture changes as drainage characteristics and functions of the newly installed sheet-pipe. From these functions and performance, we evaluated the waterlogged days at different soil depths.

1.2.2 Materials and Methods

1.2.2.1 Study Sites and Field Trials Set-up

This study carried out from the 10th of October 2018 to the 2nd of December 2018. We selected two fields at Kagoshima prefecture, Kyushu, in Japan (Figure 1.3). The first field trial site, S1, was at Isashi-Hishikarimode, Kagoshima, with the geographic coordination of 32° 14′ N,130° 37′ E. Its elevation was 170 m above sea level. The second one, S2, located in Yasui-Cho, Aira-Gun, Kitaka, Kagoshima, with the geographic coordination of 31° 57′ N, 130° 43′ E. Its elevation was 188 m above sea level. All fields were almost flat with less than 1% slope. The history of all fields has continuous rice cultivation with proper management by farmers. We compared the soil moisture changes with and without installed sheet-pipe conditions at each study site. The area with sheet-

pipe drains in S1 was 0.22 ha and without one was 0.34 ha. Those in S2 were 0.1 ha and 0.6 ha, respectively.



Figure 1.3 Map of study sites

S1 is the first field trial site at Isashi-Hishikarimode and S2 is at the second field trial site at Kitaka, Kagoshima. WS means field with perforated sheet-pipe and W0S means field without perforated sheet-pipe.

Firstly, to monitor soil moisture status in each field, a total of nine soil moisture sensors (ECH2O EC-5, Decagon) with Em 5b data logger (Decagon) were equipped at the three soil depths; 5 cm, 15 cm, and 30 cm, respectively. Then, one Motion Activated Cameras (Mac200DN) was also fixed at the outlets of a drain in each field to record the drainage time and condition (Figure 1.2 c). Although weather stations (HOBO micro RX station, ONSET) were set up in each site to collect the micro-climate data accurately, some connection errors were observed during this study. Thus, the meteorological data acquired from the

nearest weather station in Kagoshima. Soil texture was classified with field method (McDonald *et al.*, 1998).

In the laboratory, the soil moisture characteristic curve had already prepared for dry, field capacity, and saturated conditions before conducting field trials. Thus, soil moisture sensors showed above $0.494 \text{ cm}^3 \text{ cm}^{-3}$ for Isashi-Hishikarimode and $0.483 \text{ cm}^3 \text{ cm}^{-3}$ for Kitakata indicated the saturated condition.

1.2.2.2 Data collection and Analysis

All collected data were stored in the Microsoft excel-2010 version. The graphs of distinct rainfall and drainage events were produced by matching with soil moisture changes. In the field, soil moisture contents were recorded as 20 minute intervals. These data were analyzed an average of three sensors by using a Microsoft-Excel program. All recorded videos (.avi) from motion-activated cameras were converted to photographs (.jpg) to analyze the drainage image.

Rainfall events were identified regarding continuous rainfall amount larger than or equal to 10 mm. Water-logged days were counted based on the saturated soil moisture contents of each soil depths in two sites.

During the data collection, soil moisture sensors showed at and above saturation, these days were counted as waterlogging. It is well-known that most vegetable crops cannot withstand more than 48 hours of water-logged condition (Ransom and Mattern, 2011). Regarding the report of Setter and Waters (2003), soils with a prolonged saturation within a 30 cm root zone are detrimental to crop plants. Thus, days showing soil moisture content above field capacity were collected as waterlogging. Percent recovery from waterlogging was determined with no consecutive days for saturation at a given soil depth as 100 %, which compared to those without installed sheet-pipe.

1.2.3 Results

	Isashi-Hishil	karimode (S1)	Kitakata (S2)		
Soil depths	Soil Texture	Soil moisture at saturation (cm ³ cm ⁻³)	Soil Texture	Soil moisture at saturation (cm ³ cm ⁻³)	
5 cm	Sandy loam	0.43	Sandy loam	0.38	
15 cm	Clay loam	0.49	Sandy Clay Loam	0.44	
30 cm	Clay loam	0.49	Sandy Clay loam	0.48	

Table 1.1	Soil	texture and	d soil	moisture at	saturation	of two	study	sites
		vontui e uni		monstare at	, savai avion		Stady	

Soil textures of both study sites were different regarding soil depths (Table 1.1). Subsoil layers of Isashi- Hishikarimode (S1) had a heavy textural class, and clay content in Kitaka (S2) seemed to be lower than that of S1. Soil moisture contents at field capacity for each depth reflected the textural condition of each site. At deeper layers of S1, it had much moisture at saturated condition (0.49 cm³ cm⁻³) for clay loam and less moisture in S2 (0.44 and 0.48 cm³ cm⁻³) for sandy clay loam.

According to the rainfall data (Figure 1. 4 and 1. 5 a, b, and c), there were seven events of distinct rainfall (≥ 10 mm) in this study. However, it could record five significant events of drainage as the results of photographs Figures 1.6 and 1.7.

1.2.3.1 Soil moisture changes

Changes in soil moisture content at different soil depths of both study sites immediately increased after rainfall (in Figures 1.4 a, b, c, and Figures 1.5 a, b, c). Regarding the rainfall amount, the upper layer of S2 never showed a longer time of water-logged condition, whereas that of S1 showed at event-2 and 3. At the beginning of rainfall, we observed much moisture content at the upper layers compared to that of lower layers in both study sites (event-1). During continuous precipitation, soil moisture content at the installed sheet-pipe was lower than that of without ones. However, there were different fluctuation points between soil moisture trends with and without installed sheet-pipe. After continuous rainfall, both sites without installed sheet-pipe showed stable water content, and it could be seen clearly in 15 cm soil depths and 30 cm soil depths. It indicated that these soil layers became saturated or oversaturated conditions. However, the installed sheet-pipe of both sites produced the immediate response of decreasing soil moisture trends at all soil depths. These decreasing trends were an indicator of drainage. As the texture of S1 was clay loam, the moisture fluctuation gaps were broader in S1 than in S2 (Figure 1.4 c and 1.5 c). From these trends, the stored soil moisture amount seemed to be more in S1 than in S2.

Figure 1.6 and 1.7 show the soil moisture changes at different drainage events under the sheet-pipe installed condition of both sites. While it was draining, the trends of soil moisture content at the lower layers increased more than those of the upper layer. At 15 cm and 30 cm soil depths, we observed more stagnant tendencies of soil moisture status without sheet-pipe under continuous rainfall. While excess water was draining via the perforated sheet-pipe, 30 cm soil depths showed saturation. In contrast, the trends of soil moisture contents at 15 cm and 5 cm were decreasing.

1.2.3.2 Drainage Function

At drainage event-1 (Figures 1.8 a and 1.9 a), soil moisture content at all soil depths of both sites changed abruptly from 12:00 to 16:48 due to continuous







Figure 1.4 Comparison of soil moisture status at a) 5 cm, b)10 cm, and c) 30 cm soil depth between perforated sheet-pipe installation (with SP) and no-installation (0 SP) study in Isashi-Hishikarishimode, Kagoshima







Figure 1.5 Comparison of soil moisture status, θ (cm⁻³ cm⁻³), at a) 5 cm , b) 15 cm, and c) 30 cm soil depths between perforated sheet-pipe installation (with SP) and no-installation (0 SP) in Kitakata, Kagoshima



Figure 1.6 Records of each drainage event in Isashi-Hishikarishimode, Kagoshima




(b)17.11.2018



(c) 19.11.2018



(e)28.11.2019



13.11.2018



18.11.2018



(d)22.11.2018



29.11.2018

Figure 1.7 Records of each drainage event in Kitakata, Kagoshima



Figure 1. 8 Soil moisture changes (θ, cm³ cm⁻³) at three depths of 5 rainfall events (a, b, c, d, e) in Isashi-Hishikarimode, Kagoshima



Figure 1.9 Soil moisture changes (θ, cm³ cm⁻³) at three depths of 5 rainfall events (a, b, c, d, e) in Kitakata, Kagoshima

rainfall. When the saturated moisture content of the upper layer reached around 14:20 in S1 and S2. Thus, the clear drainage photos of event-1 were recorded at 14:25 in S1 (Figure 1.6 a) and 16:43 (Figure1.7 a) on 12th November 2018. From these pictures, the installed sheet-pipe in different soils was functioning well and the beginning of drainage in these soils was different. Figures 1.8 a and 1.9 a showed the drainage event-1, wherein the resulted daily soil moisture changes matched with the resulted drainage photos indicating clear time information.

At drainage event-2, all soil moisture contents of different soil depth reached the maximum at 21:36 pm in S1 and after 24:00 in S2 (Figures 1.8 b and 1.9 b) on the 16th of November 2018. However, the saturation point of the lowest layer, 30 cm soil depth reached around 19:12 on both sides. It could predict that draining time began at that time but the photos on that day of both cameras did not function well at night time. Thus, the clear pictures could record in the morning of the next day (Figures 1.6 b and 1.7 b).

According to drainage events 3, 4, and 5, it could be estimated at the beginning of the drain time. When the lowest soil layer reached the maximum soil moisture storage, it began to drain on both study sites. Thus different drainage photos of both sides (Figures 1. 6, 1.7 c, d, and e) were matched with different drained time-records (Figures 1.8, 1.9 c, d, and e). Generally, the uppermost soil layer of both sites showed less soil moisture content while it was draining under the installed sheet-pipe. It indicated the success of the perforated sheet-pipe installing in these fields when compared to without ones under continuous rainfall. Increasing, decreasing, and stagnating patterns of soil moisture were related to rainfall conditions and drainage. Swarowsky, *et al.* (2011) also discussed that water dynamics in soil were governed by many factors that change vertically with depth, laterally across landforms, and temporally in response to climate.

1.2.3.3 Comparison of Water-logged Days in Two Selected Sites

soil depths	Isashi-Hishikar	rimode (S1)	Kitakata (S2)		
	with SP (N=3)	0 SP (N=3)	with SP(N=3)	0 SP(N=3)	
5 cm	1	6	0	4	
15 cm	2	17	1	5	
30 cm	4	21	4	10	

Table 1.2 Comparison of water logged days in the selected two sites

With SP means field with perforated sheet-pipe and 0SP means field without perforated sheet-pipe

Installing sheet-pipe as a shallow subsurface drain significantly reduced water-logged days in both sites (Table 1.2). Under without sheet-pipe, a prolonged waterlogging observed during a study period. Mostly, it occurred at 15 cm and 30 cm of the root zone. There were six days for waterlogging at 5 cm of S1 and four days in S2. For 15 cm soil depth, those were seventeen days in S1 and five days in S2. The maximum number of water-logged days observed at 30 cm soil depths for twenty-one days in S1 and ten days in S2. There was no consecutive waterlogging under the sheet-pipe installed condition in both places. Likewise, other conventional drains, such as mole and tiles, were reported as a reduction of the water table and a control waterlogging (MacEwan et al., 1992; Muirhead *et al.*, 1996).

1.2.4 Conclusion

This study investigated the performance of the installed perforated sheetpipe as a shallow subsurface drain on water-logging in the paddy soils. We compared the performance of the drainage condition between the soils with and without an installed drain. Results of soil moisture changes under two conditions were completely different. When the rain started, the upper layer moisture showed higher than the other two layers. When the drainage began, moisture contents of the lower layers were almost high. Although there were seven rainfall events greater and equal ten mm day⁻¹, only five drainage events could record with the camera. Under the installed sheet-pipe condition, there was no consecutive waterlogged day, whereas a prolonged water-logging occurred at 15 cm and 30 cm depths of uninstalled soils in both sites. During a study period, installed perforated sheet-pipe as a subsurface drain saved waterlogging at rooting zones of 15 cm and 30 cm in two regions of Japan.

1.3 Objectives of the Present Study

The main objective of this study is to investigate the impacts of the installation of perforated sheet pipe as shallow subsurface drain on some soil properties. To approach the main objective, three specific objectives were laid out for each research. They were:

- To observe the soil moisture changes as drainage characteristics and functions of the newly installed sheet-pipe
- To identify the changes of some paddy soil properties by the newly installed sheet-pipe in paddy soils as a short term effect
- To investigate the changes of some soil properties under long term installation of sheet pipe effect

1.4 Structure of the Present Study

Regarding the objectives laid out, our preliminary study for evaluation of drainage function states in the Chapter 1. In this study, we determine the performance of the installed perforated sheet-pipe with soil moisture changes. The results compared to those of without ones. This study highlights the nature of soil moisture changes and how long it takes between rainfall and drainage events under different soils. Also, we characterize the duration and frequency of waterlogging during the study period. In this study, soil moisture sensors and motion-activated cameras were utilized together with weather data to identify the drainage events. From this study, the identification of drainage characteristics is necessary for the first step of research purposes in field conditions. Besides, the basic requirements learned from the preliminary trials are listed, and some improvements for further research could propose.

To understand the perforated sheet-pipe as shallow subsurface drain in paddy soils, the Chapter 2 states as reviews. This chapter describes in two sections, namely the role of agricultural drainage under climate change and impacts of subsurface drainage on paddy soils. In the first section, we review challenges, some considerations of agricultural field drainage, different drainage systems, and the importance of subsurface drainage. Furthermore, logical discussion on soil function and subsurface drainage also states in this section. Then, we discuss why subsurface drains are installed as the first step in land reclamation. How and where it can install for different purposes explains in the second section. Also, the impacts of subsurface drainage describe in that part in terms of crop production, soil properties, and environmental aspects.

Chapter 3 illustrates the short-term impacts of the perforated sheet pipe as a shallow subsurface drain on paddy soil properties. In this chapter, changes and differences in soil properties are presented comparing with before and after

installed states. This study emphasizes on the same soil under the short-term. The reasons for changes in soil properties and some impacts are proposed as short-term effects.

Chapter 4 clarifies the long-term impacts of the installed perforated sheetpipe on some paddy soil properties. Under different installed durations, this study reports the most significant changes in soil properties. From these changes, why we observed some impacts by the installed perforated sheet-pipe explains in this section.

Chapter 5 summarizes the observations and states the results as conclusions. Besides, lessons learned, some suggestions, and recommendations based on our studies show in this chapter.

Chapter 2

Reviews of the Literature

2.1 Role of Agricultural Drainage under Climate Change

World population would approach 9 billion by 2050. Coupling with the rising population, global water demand would also increase to meet food demand. In global food demand, the required agricultural water use would compete with other water withdrawals such as uses of urban, industry, recreation, and environmental protection (de Fraiture and Wichelns, 2010). Current findings warned that global climate change also stressed water security through changing temperatures, long-term variations in precipitation, and regional rainfall distribution patterns (UN-WFP, 2018).

Ayars and Evans (2015) verified that the water requirement for crop production was significantly low in places with effective utilization of water practiced. Besides, the application of modern irrigation and drainage techniques could maintain sustainable crop production and control some environmental impacts (Smedema *et al.*, 2004). There was some significant evidence due to the application of such modern management practices. These helped to improve crop yields, assisted a solution to the rapidly emerging food demands, decreased total freshwater diversions for agriculture, and conserved environment (Ayars and Evans, 2015).

Globally, around 18% of the cultivated area was under irrigation, and its production contributed 40% of all food. Over the decades, an increase in irrigated crop production played a significant role in successes during the Green Revolution and the eradication of famines in Asia (Schultz *et al.*, 2005). Recently, irrigation was responsible for water shortages, severe environmental damage, and crop failures. The consequences were an increase in social inequality (WCD, 2000; FAO *et al.*, 2020). On the other hand, drainage was highlighted as one of

the integrating manners to invest in sustainable agriculture, land management, and rural development (Tayagi, 2012).

Thus, future agricultural drainage is challenging to meet world food demand under climate change with severe environmental concerns. On the other hand, it is necessary to increase crop production both from irrigated & non-irrigated areas using the modern irrigation practices and improved drainage systems. Regarding the past citations, it could predict that food production from the improved drainage for the 2025-time horizon would increase by 1.0–1.5% in irrigated area and 0.5–1.0% in the rain-fed area (Wrachien and Feddes, 2004; Ritzema *et al.*, 2007; Gopalakrishnano, 2009).

Concerns with the controlled drainage, Ayars and Evans (2015) proposed that combined subsurface irrigation & subsurface drainage system was one of the critical future components for sustainable water management in humid and arid areas. They believed that such a system could maintain much available water for crops, and active management of the drainage operation absolutely required in those areas. The benefits of controlled drainage included reducing groundwater pollution, maintaining water use efficiency, and promoting higher quality crop & its yield (Phene *et al.*, 1992; Alam *et al.*, 2002; Lindenmayer *et al.*, 2007).

Recent publications suggested that agricultural water management should aim to achieve the triple goals of increased food production, equitable access, and environmentally friendly practices. Furthermore, it is necessary not to neglect field drainage as well as to equip the developed drainage infrastructures. This improvement should be adaptable under climate change for the future (ICID, 2014).

2.1.1 Challenges of Agricultural Field Drainage

ICID (2018) expected that future global food demand would rely on food production from both irrigated & non-irrigated areas. Modern irrigation practices and improved drainage systems would also take part in food production. Recent papers highlighted to consider the outlook of future drainage. Schultz et al. (2007) reported an evaluation of past & current drainage management options as the first step to find the solutions for the improvement of future agricultural drainage techniques. Secondly, poor understanding of beneficial and non-beneficial effects of drainage on some areas of agriculture was one of the disturbances. Little investment was one of the problems in the maintenance of drainage systems. Under government funds, little interest in providing and maintaining drainage services as well as the training for operations were other problems. Finally, a huge expense of renovating and improving these systems were other reasons to ignore the drainage development (Ayars and Evans, 2015). Thus, the future of agricultural drainage will face several significant obstacles. For example, the design and service life of drainage infrastructure has been generally neglected. Many drainage systems have also failed or are failing with no plans. There are no resources to replace them. For these reasons, Scheumann and Freisem (2002) identified drainage as the forgotten issue in sustaining irrigated agriculture.

Ayars and Soppe (2014) proposed that improving or modifying the current drainage management, proper design, criteria, and practices should be considered. ICID (2018) also suggested that this developed drainage technique should also be adaptable to climate change. Besides, environmental safeguarding was necessary. Creating an affordable price was one of the requirements. While installing the drainage infrastructure, efficient management skill for labor and time is also necessary.

Currently, most developed countries have been developed in agricultural field drainage. In contrast, developing countries are in little interest. On a global scale, open drains & surface drainage, subsurface drains, and vertical drainage

systems are currently applied. These represented 55%, 38%, and 7% of the drained areas, respectively (Schultz *et al.*, 2007). Recent papers stated less than 16% of global irrigated areas are as salt-affected. These salt-affected areas also required to reclaim with drainage (Zimmer *et al.*, 2005). Also, rain-fed cropland and irrigated land equipped with some improved drainage due to uncertain rainfall. Many successes were observed by the installation of subsurface tile or mole drains in agricultural fields (Strock *et al.*, 2011). In paddy soils, Ogino and Ota (2007) also applied shallow subsurface drains for wetland paddy cultivation and converted upland crops or orchards, in Japan.

In the selection of proper design for field drainage systems, determinations of drain depth, drain spacing, and the required transport capacity of the drains were some considerations. For effective drainage of different crops, characterization of soil moisture regimes from saturated to unsaturated conditions, infiltration, porosity to water supply, and critical water requirements were necessary at first. Evapotranspiration and climatic parameters would also support decision making. However, knowledge regarding drainage development was limited. Thus, further researches based on these limitations would support better planning and management of an improved agricultural drainage system (Smedema and Ochs, 1998; Smedema *et al.*, 2000; Smedema *et al.*, 2004; Ritzemaa *et al.*, 2006).

2.1.2 Considerations for Drainage Development under Climate Change

In most of the world's irrigated and rain-fed lands, drainage facilities developed on a step-by-step basis over the centuries. In many facilities, structures were aged or deteriorating. This fact pointed out why drainage development was necessary. In such a case, to renew or even replace as well as redesign and rebuilt should consider (Smedema, 2000; Schultz *et al.*, 2007). For example, drainage systems in past designed for long life (50 years or more) based on the assumption that climatic conditions would not change in the future. These drainage designs

would be inappropriate in the future due to global warming and the greenhouse effect. Therefore, it was recommended for the planners and designers to examine planning principles, design criteria, operating rules, and management policies for new infrastructures (Wrachien and Feddes, 2004; WWC, 2018).



(Source; Schultz, 2001)

Figure 2.1 Expansion of current world's cultivated area with no water management system and under irrigation and currently drained land

From Figure 2.1, it was recognized that out of a total cultivated area of around 1500 million ha, 1100 million ha were agriculturally exploited without water management systems. It meant, "Without drainage, there was no completion of water management" (Schultz, 2001). Basically, he gave a piece of advice to develop drainage management with some divisions of global agricultural drainage zone. According to agro-climatic conditions, there are three global agricultural drainage zones (Bouarfa *et al.*, 1996; Smedema and Ochs, 1998; Schultz, 2001; Smedema *et al.*, 2000; 2004). They are the temperate (humid) zone, the arid & semi-arid zone, and the humid & semi-humid zone (Figure 2.2).

In the temperate (humid) zone, the purpose of drainage is to prevent waterlogging and to provide good traffic-ability conditions for farm machinery. The drainage systems mostly applied in this area are surface and subsurface. During recent decades, some drainage problems in this area were arising due to salinization, leaching of fertilizers & pesticides, pollution from municipal and industrial sources. In additions, transboundary water quality problems in some river basins were observed (Schultz *et al.*, 2007).



(Smedema *et al.*, 2004) **Figure 2.2 Agroclimatic zones**

In the arid and semi-arid zone, the major role of drainage is to prevent irrigation-induced waterlogging and salinization of the fields. In this region, drainage has usually installed in combination with irrigation. The problem of this zone is to achieve self-sufficiency in food production with the effective use of water. Improved and or controlled drainage may be seen there as another way to conserve precious water resources. Subsurface drainage systems are also applied to control groundwater tables (Schultz *et al.*, 2013).

In the humid and semi-humid zone, the role of drainage encompasses waterlogging control, salinization prevention, and flood protection in various proportions. Mainly drainage is applied according to crop season. During the wet season, rain-fed (rice and dry food) crops are chiefly cultivated in large areas according to the relatively abundant rainfall. Generally, open drainage systems are applied there. While rainfall intensities are so high, extra pipe drainage requires solving insufficient capacity, and thereby it becomes very expensive. In many areas of this zone, drainage systems apply without irrigation. When systems are improved to enable the cultivation of crops during the wet and the dry seasons, drainage systems in combination with irrigation systems are generally applied (Schultz *et al.*, 2007). Especially in Japan, there was also experienced with the combination of open and pipe drainage systems in order to get good control of surface water and groundwater for mixed crops – rice followed by dry crops (Ogino and Ota, 2007).

Large lowland areas along the coasts and river floodplains in semiarid and arid zones are still reclaiming. Reclamation of these lowlands requires the application of a drainage system also. Depending on the local conditions, combined with flood protection and or irrigation requires. An increase in impermeable areas in coastal lowlands resulted from an enormous expansion of urban and industrial areas that were observed there (Schultz, 2001). Thus, there was more flooding than before. Another increasing problem was the pollution of drainage systems. Its source originated from an uncontrolled wastewater discharge from urban and industries as well as from the uncontrolled application of fertilizers and pesticides in agriculture (Schultz *et al.*, 2005).

Global warming due to the greenhouse effect varied with the hydrological process such as water regimes, water resource systems, and then on the drainage planning & design process (Leavesley *et al.*, 1992). Under considerations of the drainage system, it is necessary to cope with all of the uncertainties of how

climate change and how drainage systems have to adapt to such climate change. To solve long-term such issues by climate change, the identification of short-term strategies in detail also requires. The development of a comprehensive approach requires to integrate all reliable issues into the drainage project selection. Furthermore, further research based on the effect of climate variables on water demand for irrigation, and the impacts of climate on infrastructure performance on drainage would support drainage development (Schultz *et al.*, 2007).

2.1.3 Drainage Systems: Surface, Subsurface, and Shallow Subsurface

USDA-NRCS (2001) provided the drainage system and functions in water management like that; there are three functions in a drainage system. They are creating well-drained arable land, preventing salinization of the soil, and lowering the groundwater table. The last function has the removal of accumulated salts and or toxic elements. One or all of these functions can accomplish the drainage. However, the success of drainage depends on the soil, meteorological, and hydrological conditions.

A drainage system can consist of a field drainage system, the main drainage system, and an outlet. A field drainage system can be surface drainage, subsurface drainage, and or both. Main drains are collectors of water from the field drains, and convey it to the outlet of the area. An outlet is an open connection, discharge sluice, or pumping station to evacuate the drainage water to a receiving water body.

A surface drainage system is the removal of excess water from the surface of the land by means of improved natural channels or constructed drains. There are two purposes for the improvements in design. The first one is to minimize crop damage resulting from water ponding on the soil surface following a rainfall event, particularly in ground slopes less than 2%. The second one is to control runoff without causing erosion for steeper land slopes.

34

Surface drainage systems can apply in relative flatlands that have soils with a low or medium infiltration capacity. In lands with high-intensity rainfalls that exceed normal infiltration capacity, surface drainage can reduce frequent waterlogging on the soil surface. In this situation, some improvement structures are necessary to build for the prevention of flooding, such as land leveling, smoothing the construction of surface water inlets to subsurface drains, and the construction of shallow ditches & grass waterways.

Surface drainage systems can be classified into two: namely "Regular Surface Drainage System" and "Controlled Surface Drainage System". The regular surface drainage systems which start functioning as soon as there is an excess of rainfall or irrigation operate entirely by gravity. They consist of reshaped or reformed land surfaces and can be divided into bedded systems. These are the systems, used in flatlands and graded systems, used in sloping lands. The bedded and graded systems may have ridges and furrows. The checked or controlled surface drainage systems consist of check gates placed in the embankments surrounding flat basins such as those used for rice fields in flatlands. These fields are usually submerged and only need to be drained on certain occasions (e.g. at harvest time). Checked surface drainage systems are also found in terraced lands used for rice.

Surface drainage can affect the water-table by reducing the volume of water entering the soil profile. Surface drainage improvements require annual maintenance, and careful designs required to ensure soil erosion control. At the same time, earthmoving activities are extensive, and these make it expensive. Land grading might expose less fertile and less productive subsoils. Such earthmoving and land grading activities create an agricultural area to waste. Further open ditches may interfere with moving farm equipment across a field (ICID, 2018).

A subsurface drainage system is a man-made system that reduces excess water and dissolved salts to flow across the soil to the pipe or open drains. Open drains have some advantages that they can receive overland flow and thus can also be used for surface drainage. The disadvantages of open drains are the loss of land, the interference with the irrigation system, the splitting-up of the land into small farm blocks, which delays farming operations, and a maintenance burden. To overcome these disadvantages, pipe drains can be installed. The choice between open or pipe drains has to be made at two levels. The first one is for field drains, and another one is for collector drains. If the field drains are to be pipes, there are two options for the collectors. These are;

- Open collector drains with a singular pipe drainage system (Figure 2.3)
- Pipe collector drains with a composite pipe drainage system (Figure 2.4)





(Source: Oosterbaan, 2014)

Figure 2.3 In a singular pipe drainage Figure 2.4 In a composite system, system, each drained pipe the collector drained discharges in to an open pipe is buried. collector drain.

Thus, open drains, pipe drains, mole drains, or a combination of these can be installed in a subsurface drainage system. Subsurface drain pipes are usually made of earthen, porcelain, pipe, polyvinyl chloride, and polyethylene plastic. These pipes can be installed with 7 - 50 m spacing at 1.5 - 2 m soil depth (FAO, 1995). In the conventional subsurface drainage of most Japanese paddy fields, pipe drains are installed with a spacing of 7-12 m at 1 m soil depth by using the filter envelope with straw, gravels, or others (Tabuchi, 1985). This combined system is mostly applied in irrigated areas of arid and semiarid regions. Especially, in the fields practicing with the rotational cropping pattern (rice-soybean), subsurface drainage is usually applied for salinity control of the dry-foot crops. Surface drainage is needed to evacuate standing water from rice fields. Subsurface drainage is usually practiced before fertilizer applications or to dry crops before harvest. In areas with occasional high-intensity rainfall (more than 50 mm/day) that causes water ponding at the soil surface, this combined system is also practiced (Ritzema, 2006).

"Shallow Subsurface Drainage System"; Soils with much clay content (40-60%) are difficult to drain due to the formation of the impermeable soil layer. Soils with loamy silt are vulnerable to erosion by intense rainfall (USDA-NRCS, 1999). In those cases, installation of the perforated pipe as a shallow subsurface drain helps to favor much water infiltration and conserve soils. Generally, the installation depth of a shallow subsurface drain can vary from 60 to 90 cm according to the planning & construction method, the appropriate soil conditions (i.e., suitable soil texture and soil moisture), and problems (e.g., the collapse of cut-drain). This system is mostly applied in paddy fields. Mole drains with highperformance perforated plastic sheet-pipe are widely installed at a shallower soil layer with closer spacing of 4 m. In Japan, sheet pipe as a shallow subsurface drain can perform in preventing flooded land combined with surface drainage. It can control the groundwater table and salinity (JASPiP, 2014; Okuda *et al.*, 2017).

2.1.4 Subsurface Drainage in Land Reclamation

Land reclamation with surface and or subsurface drainage has many functions with land shaping, bedding, and filtering (Skaggs, 1980). Also, several considerations for land drainage are necessary to minimize the risks such as flooding, destroying lives & farmland, and its consequences. In developed countries, most land reclamation projects have been installing subsurface drainage (Schultz, 2001). Wherein, these countries challenged with some constraints on field drainage such as cost of maintenance, considerations on costbenefit, policy improvements on water-related issues, and the role of privatepublic partnerships (Daniele, 2003; Schutz *et al.*, 2013). Regional wide challenges are also developed. In most irrigated areas (semi-arid & arid conditions), an increase in water logging with salt-affected problems are arising. In humid areas, such problems plus flooding and lack of subsurface drainage in farmland are encountered.

Installing drainage has been practiced as a long-term solution for such challenges. Understanding & investing in the development of drainage infrastructure, human capacity, research, and technology are major requirements (Ritzema *et al.*, 2017). Schutz *et al.* (2013) advised modifying the current drainage systems in the developed countries where it was required. They also recommended installing a proper drainage system in developing countries with the deficient drainage system. These countries need an introduction of drainage systems, including both surface and subsurface drains in farmland for increasing crop production and preventing floods.

Besides, countries in arid and semi-arid conditions require to reduce the high groundwater table, to drain salt, and to utilize water effectively. Thus, Wrachien and Feddes (2004) suggested that installing the dual purposes drainage with subirrigation in fields probably had some potential to save water. In this system, irrigation began when the soil dried, and drainage functioned when it flooded. Such controlled drainage had already been practiced in the USA since 1992. Especially, this practice was successful in the years with frequent rains and short droughts (Reinhart *et al.*, 2016). Thus, Fraser and Fleming (2001) encouraged to development of agricultural drainage systems with land reclamation.



Source: https://www.usgs.gov/media/images/illustration-subsurfacedrained-agricultural-field (Credit: Erik Smith, Upper Midwest Water Science Center. Public domain.) Figure 2.5 Expected reclaimed land with subsurface drains

Figure 2.5 shows an expected reclaimed land with subsurface drains. In which, the drained field with a weather station showed for measuring climate data. There was also a piezometer network for continuous water level measurements. At that field, soil moisture probes were fixing, and subsurface drainage flow was illustrating. Such a complete land reclamation project helped to support the agricultural water management including field drainage and water balance for several crop seasons (Margane *et al.*, 2013).

Historically, civilizations of Greek and Egypt relied on surface drainage to preserve cropland from being damaged by floodwaters. Since then, agricultural drainage including subsurface drainage has continued to change and developed throughout the years to now (Donnan, 1976). In Japan, land reclamation projects have been equipped with surface and subsurface drainage in coastal land and lowland rice fields from 1954 to 1970. New methods of utilizing subsurface

drainage facilities for irrigation (SPIDI) has been introduced in these paddy fields since the middle of the 1990s. This method also considered harmony with the environment (Ogino and Ota, 2007).

Installing drainage structure in land reclamation project is determined with cost impacts. Most developed countries counted the charges based on monitoring and evaluation on benefits from land use, agro-climate, water table, salinity and soil conditions.

2.2 Impacts of Subsurface Drainage on Paddy Soils

2.2.1 Environmental Impacts of Sub-Surface Drainage in Paddy Field

Subsurface drainage systems have direct and indirect impacts on the environment. These impacts could be positive and negative. Pollution of drainage water was a major concern, in which salts, nutrients, organic components, and heavy metals contaminated downstream sites (Sallam and Ismail, 2012; Abd-Elaty *et al.*, 2017). In the case of Egypt, the results of the EIA matrix application for subsurface drainage projects showed the benefits of positive as 85.50%, zero as 6.5%, and negative as 5%. This calculation was based on environmental feasibility and the existing situation. In another study conducted in the Yamaska river basin, the total amount of herbicide and atrazine was lost with runoff. In which, 51 to 62% of those were removed from fields through surface runoff, and 16 to 24% was through subsurface drainage (Muir and Baker, 1976).

In terms of soil conservation, Skaggs *et al.* (1982) discovered that amount of soil lost by erosion under the subsurface drainage reduced a factor of ten on a Goldsboro sandy loam, with a 2% slope in North Carolina. Liquid manure flow was also reduced with subsurface tile drains, and it made less pollution downstream. The reason was that spreading liquid manure when the soil was dried, reduced the risk of macro-pore flow in subsurface drainage (Geohring *et al.*, 2005).

Under waterlogged paddy soils, uptake of many nutrients by rice plants, such as N, P, Mn, and Fe increased but uptake of other cat-ions reduced (FAO, 2006 b). With proper drainage, some extra elements uptake by rice were reduced, and uptake of required cations was increased. An example was observed at wetland maintenance. Woltemade (2000) reported that constructed wetlands with subsurface drainage were effective at removing nutrients, sediments, and chemicals from agricultural wastewater. For salinity and waterlogging management, subsurface drainage with proper drain depth and spacing were an effective solution (Christen and Ayars, 2001; Tiwari and Goel, 2017).

To reduce GHGs from paddy fields, proper irrigation and drainage management is an important option to mitigate global warming. In literature, both environmental conditions and paddy management practices control CH₄ and N₂O emissions. Such management practices changed soil properties such as pH, soil organic & inorganic carbon content, and drainage capacity. These variations helped to control GHGs emissions. In some reports, incorporation of organic matter such as straw, manure, compost, phosphorous, and seasonal water management accelerated to reduce such gases emission (Yan et al., 2005; Mikawa and Sakai, 2010; Itoh et al., 2011; Malyan et al., 2016; Tariq et al., 2017; Bertora et al., 2018). Similar enactments were noticed by application of different N-inputs in paddy soils followed by different water management systems (Toriyama, 2002; Cassman et al., 2002; Cheng et al., 2007; Liu et al., 2010). Besides, AWD (alternate wetting and drying), early-season drainage, midseason drainage, wherein single or multiple drainages during rice growth period were explained as promising options for mitigating CH₄ emissions from paddy soils (Wassmann et al., 1993; Zheng et al., 2000; Tyagi et al., 2010; Pandey et al., 2014; Tariq et al., 2017a; 2017 b). Empirically, single drainage in the middle of rice season reduces CH₄ emissions by 36%-50% (Gupta *et al.*, 2002; Tyagi *et al.*, 2010). As a result, integrated subsurface drainage management practices significantly decreased water pollution, water-mediated social problems including health, economics, and an increase in water treatment costs (de Hean, 1987; Wanninger, 1999).

2.2.2 Impacts on Crop Production by Sub-Surface Drainage in Paddy Field

Improved drainage and flood protection allow farmers to diversify cropping systems. Thereby, farmers can achieve higher and more secure yields. In paddy fields, the installed subsurface drainage system serves to hasten surface drainage of excess rainfall during crop establishment. Also, it helps to prevent total seedling submergence. Additionally, removing excess water within the soil layer by subsurface drainage hastened crop harvesting (Murashima and Ogino, 1994; Okwany et al., 2016). In converted or reclaimed paddy fields with subsurface drainage, cultivation of some crops such as wheat, corn, soybeans, sugar beets, sunflowers, sugar cane, citrus, and forages increased yields & profits (Fraser and Fleming, 2001). The main reason was that most cultivated crops after rice did not like waterlogging. Timely drainage and farm machinery operations were necessary (Neigashi, 1970; Ransom and Mattern, 2011; Oosteerban, 2017; Johnson, 2018). Plamenac (1988) discovered that subsurface drainage had more efficient in machinery works on drier soil, reduced labor hours, and helped to minimize fossil fuel consumption & associated costs. Mid-season drainage in paddy field generally improved rice plant growth, and increased crop yield subsequently (Matsushima, 1970). Okamoto (1997) mentioned that the implementation of a subsurface drainage system extended the root zone soil layer and kept this as aerobic conditions. There were some results of higher yields from changing soil layer with aerobic conditions by subsurface drainage. These significant effects showed not only on rice yields but also on successive crop yields (Kenawey et al., 1997; Chan and Cheong, 2001). Besides, different drain performance with spacing, depths, size, and applied drain-envelop, showed many positive impacts on rice yields (Murashima and Ogino, 1994; Jorjani and Vuuren, 1991). With controlled drainage, intermittent irrigation, dry seedbed preparation, and floating seedbed preparation could practice in paddy fields (FAO, 1995; Keiser *et al.*, 2002; Siaga *et al.*, 2019).

Alternate wetting and drying (shallow subsurface drainage plus surface drainage) provided uniform rice seedling establishment (Bouman and Tuong, 2001; Singh *et al.*, 2008). Ease of weed control was observed under this practice (Jabran and Chauhan, 2015). An improvement of rice morphological characters was also found (Yang *et al.*, 2017). Maximum in grain yield was obtained with this practice (Avil Kumar *et al.* 2006). Water productivity of rice was also maximized by minimizing the use of freshwater under such conditions (Rezaei *et al.*, 2009; Kumar and Rajitha, 2019). In terms of grain quality, AWD helped to reduce arsenic (As) content in rice grain (Yang *et al.*, 2017).

Subsurface drainage practice can integrate with other management practices or field operations and received some positive impacts. Examples were nutrient management practices such as 4 R (right source, right dosage, right application method, right time), timely weeding, and pest management (Fausey, 2005; Ibrahin *et al.*, 2008).

2.2.3 Impacts on Soil Properties by Subsurface Drainage

Facilitating subsurface drainage accentuates the soil hydraulic properties through soil pores. Generally, the soil has a major component of solids & pores (comprising both air & water), and soil pore space varies with soil type, structure, and land management (Hillel, 1998; Scott, 2000). All pores in soil took part in several roles for soil aeration, soil water storage, soil nutrient transformation, and presence of biota, which are essential sources for soil physical, chemical, and biological functions (Hamblin, 1985; Horn *et al.*, 1995;

Dorner & Horn, 2006). Macro-pores with greater than 50 µm in diameter developed from good aggregates, and these are important for air movement and drainage for excess water. Meso-pores with 30 -50 µm size were important for soil water storage and water and nutrient movement in soils (Greenland, 1977; Kay, 1990; 1998; Hillel, 1998; Robertson and Groffman, 2007). Nevertheless, both macro and mesopores were essential for soil water movements (Eusufzai and Fujii, 2012). As a result, water, salt, nutrients, pollutants, oxygen, carbon dioxide, heat, and electric charges occurred in these pores with drainage (transport processes) (Hillel, 2004). Weather and biota also enhance the transport process directly, and involvement of soil-biota interaction in soil pores also modifies soil functions (Lal and Shukla, 2004).

Soil water retention was greatly influenced by pore shape, size, distribution, & continuity, and above applied management practices such as AWD, tillage operations, manuring, and addition of organic matter. (USDA-NRCS, 1990; Sands, 2001; Hillel, 2004; Lal and Shukla, 2004). When the soil begins to dry, the proportion of air-filled pores increases inversely, while water-filled pores decrease. As a result, evapotranspiration (ET) and storage water changed. Skaggs *et al.* (1994) proved that lowering seasonal water tables by subsurface drained fields offered temporary storage space for water in the soil profile. This effect depended on antecedent soil moisture conditions (Sands, 2001). Improved temporary storage space allowed much water to infiltrate easily in the soil profile and consequently reduced surface runoff volume (Konyha *et al.*, 1992; Stillman *et al.*, 2006). As a result, there could be either an attenuating or increasing downstream peak flows (Robinson, 1990; Fraser and Fleming, 2001).

Impacts of subsurface drainage on peak flows also depend on soil type, precipitation characteristics, drainage design, and topography. Regarding different soil types, peak flow by subsurface drainage to tiles was reduced in clay and silty soils, but those in sandy soils were increased. Although subsurface drainage in coarse-textured soils helped to improve soil permeability, water retained in such soils depended on precipitation events (Robinson, 1990).

Some results showed that installation of subsurface drainage had increasing saturated hydraulic conductivity, preventing waterlogging, and it should be invested as a long term solution (Skagg, 1996; Christen *et al.*, 2001; Hopkins, 2002; Ritzema, 2006; Huffman *et al.*, 2013; Gibson, 2014; Xian *et al.*, 2017). The main reason was surface cracks development in clayey paddy soils (Tabuchi, 1968). These cracks induced macro-pores near the tiles, and their formations by drainage depend on time (Robinson, 1990; Stillman, *et al.*, 2006; Tuohy et al., 2015; 2016). In some cases, it took several years, and frequent drying and wetting were necessary (Eigendbrod, 2003).

As soil hydraulic properties changed, other soil physical and chemical properties also varied with reducing water table, sodicity, salinity, and harmful elements in root zone through leaching (Moharram *et al.*, 1999; Christen and Skehan, 2001; Sands, 2001). In a case study, groundwater table reduction from - 66 cm to -85 cm and from - 4 cm to -7 cm of the soil surface was observed in dry and wet seasons, respectively. Soil salinity also reduced in that case (Bakri *et al.*, 2015).

In the case of India, the installation of subsurface drains reduced soil pH, EC, and ESP after four years' study of silty clay and clay soils (Okuda *et al.*, 2017; Mallika *et al.*, 2018). They explained that saturated hydraulic conductivity took part as a key role of changes in such soil properties. Also, integrated performance of changing soil properties was related to each other. In soils with high organic matter content such as peat soils, the absence of drainage caused the formation and accumulation of large quantities of toxic substances such as hydrogen sulfide, soluble manganese, iron, or aluminum. In these soils,

45

subsurface drainage helped to create more aeration and convert to less toxic substances with much oxidation (FAO, 1995). With subsurface tile drain, changes in soil temperature were observed in Minnesota. An average of 4° C increments in soil temperature was detected at both coarser and finer texture-soils (Jin *et al.*, 2008). Furthermore, subsurface tile drainage also changed soil structures and other properties. However, their changes were not constant and time-dependent, especially, if the stable aggregates were destroyed during installation (Madramootoo *et al.*, 2007).

In terms of discharge, subsurface drainage increased total annual outflow from fields, and it was 10% (40 mm/year) higher than from surface drainage (Robinson, 1990; Konyha *et al.*, 1992). Khand *et al.* (2014) explained that evapotranspiration, ET, was another important component of field water balance. Cumulative daily ET from subsurface drained fields was generally higher than ET in undrained fields (Rijal *et al.*, 2012; Yang *et al.*, 2017). However, some studies gave the opposite results (Rijal *et al.*, 2012).

Most researchers confirmed that tile drainage had several benefits in improving traffic-ability and reducing soil erosion. In the case of shallow subsurface drainage, increasing permeability, and changing soil properties were accompanied in subsurface soil layers (Oosterbaan, 2002; Wesström and Joel, 2008; Welage *et al.*, 2019). Under the long-term study, tile drains in paddy fields had some positive impacts on improving soil physical properties such as soil bulk density, water retention, hydraulic conductivity, and compaction of silty loam soils (Daniel *et al.*, 2019). In contrast, some negative impacts were observed with poor drainage. These depend on the installed conditions, planning, and management of the soil environment (Skaggs *et al.*, 1982b; Osunbitan *et al.*, 2005; FAO, 2007; Pandey *et al.*, 2014).

Chapter 3

Short-term Impacts of Perforated Sheet-Pipe as Shallow Subsurface Drain on Paddy Soil Properties

Abstract

Some soil properties are expected to change under shallow subsurface drainage. In this study, sheet-pipe was used which has been developed and has been introducing in Japan for about 40 years. However, research on the sheet pipe is limited and it is necessary to extend these studies. To investigate changes in soil properties at the field where sheet-pipe has been installed, soil samples were collected, with drainage stream sites at the fields (upstream, midstream, downstream), distances from the sheet-pipe (0 m, 1 m, 2 m), and soil depths (10 cm, 25 cm, 45 cm) before and after a rice cultivation.

As a result, during only one rice cropping, we could not find significant impacts on some soil properties by the sheet-pipe except larger pores. We observed larger meso-pore portion at 0 m and 1 m distance from the sheet-pipe at deeper soil layers (both 25 cm and 45 cm depth). Although difference in macropores in this study was not so significant, the meso-pores supposed to lead to develop macro-pores and cracks. And they would improve drainage characteristics in the future.

3.1 Introduction

Global agricultural production has been aiming at adapting climate change and producing more crops with effective water management under sustainability. Agricultural drainage, including surface and subsurface drainages, removes excess water from flooded land and provides better environments for crops. Parsinejadi & Akram (2018) proposed that drainage is one of the main elements of integrated water management for climate-adaptive solutions.

Improvements in soil water storage and increases in percolation or permeability with conventional tiles or mole drains have been reported (Blann *et al.* 2009; Fausey 2005; Skaggs *et al.*, 1994). However, few papers have showed that conventional drainage impacts such soil characteristics as soil bulk density, aggregation, compaction, macro-porosity, soil salinity, pH and CEC (Vopravil *et al.*, 2017; Wealge *et al.*, 2019). Moreover, water table reduction and increases in air-filled capacity, saturated hydraulic conductivity, and water holding capacity were studied using such drainage technologies (Tiwari & Goel, 2017; Schwab *et al.*, 1985). Most studies have focused on topsoil with a heavy texture and the spacing of deep drains, and mainly compared adjacent soils with non-mole or tile treatment. Limited literature has thus explained the long- term effects of such drainage on crop yield and soil physical properties (Wesström *et al.*, 2008).

In one deep drainage study, Francis & Morton (1991) claimed that subsurface gravel mole drainage did not affect drainage through less surface infiltration and soil water content, but also observed more root extension from upper layers to near the drainage. Subsurface-shallow drainage is expected to offer more benefits in accelerating drainage as compared with deep drainage (Oosterbaan, 2017). Therefore, more research must be conducted on subsurfaceshallow drainage such as sheet-pipe. Sheet-pipe was developed about 40 years ago and is mainly installed in the western part of Japan. It was typically installed at soil depths of 40-50 cm with a close spacing (4-8 m). These setting have been settled with empirical ways. One significant advantage of sheet-pipe compared with other conventional drains is no need for such transitional materials as gravel or straw. Because sheet-pipe does not require such transitional materials (JASPiP, 2014), it is considered a cost-effective and environmentally friendly technique. The limited previous studies on paddy fields with heavy texture soils found that installing sheet-pipe had some benefits in reducing waterlogging and the EC of drained water (Setiawan *et al.*, 2019).

Research remains inadequate, however, on the drainage function of sheetpipe and its impact on soil properties. For instance, it remains unclear where the drainage water passes through, while the why & how aspects of the sheet pipe function have yet to be clarified. And when do these impacts appear after installation? Hence, this study investigated the changes in some paddy soil properties as a short-term impact under newly installed sheet-pipe during a single rice cropping. For that purpose, we studied soil properties collected from stream sites with sheet-pipe installed (upstream, midstream, downstream) in the field, and at specific distances from the sheet-pipe (0 m, 1 m, 2 m) and soil depths or layers (10 cm, 25 cm, 45 cm), both before and after rice cultivation.

3.2 Materials and Methods

3.2.1 Experimental Set up

The polyethylene plastic perforated sheet-pipe with distinct tiny pores (approx. 1 mm in diameter, 532 holes m⁻¹) and weighing 17 kg per 100 m was installed in a paddy field at Takedatsu, Kunisaki city, Oita prefecture, Japan on

April 3, 2018. The experimental field (measuring 0.32 ha) is located 0.36 m above sea level in a closed embankment to prevent the intrusion of seawater. This land was reclaimed about 40 years ago and has recently been used for the cultivation of rice as fodder. Prior to cultivation in 2018, 20 tons of gypsum and 200 kg of manure per hectare were applied. Table 3.1 summarizes the time schedule.



(a)Installing the sheet-pipe in the field



(b) A roll of perforated sheet and a mole drainer

Source: https://jaspip.jp/siryou/

Figure 3.1 General features of perforated sheet-pipe and its installation in the field

Activity	Timing (2018)
Installation of sheet-pipe	April3 rd
Soil sampling (Before)	April 4 th
Land Preparation	April 12 th
Rice planting	April 15 th
Closure of drainage	July 18 th
Harvesting	November 10
Soil Sampling (After)	November 25

Table 3.1 Time schedule

There was space of 4 m on average for installing sheet-pipe along a 0.1% slope in the field. The installation process entailed first cutting up the land with a ripper mounted on a bulldozer, and then installing perforated sheet-pipe at a depth of 40 cm (Figure 3.1 a). This flat plastic sheet could be transformed into a pipe measuring 70 mm in diameter when installed in the field using a mole drainer (Figure 3.1 b). The drain outlet was opened at the end of July in 2018 (closed during the growth period).

3.2.2 Soil Sampling and Analyses

The first soil sampling was performed on April 4, 2018, one day after the installation of sheet-pipe. A second sampling was later performed after rice harvesting on November 25, 2018.

A total of 27 soil samples representing the stream sites with the sheet-pipe (upstream, midstream, and downstream) was collected at three soil depths (10 cm, 25 cm, and 45 cm) with three replications. A visual and soil hardness investigation revealed a compacted plough layer at a depth of 15-20 cm. We collected soil samples from different soil layers as follows: 10 cm as disturbed topsoil, 25 cm as undisturbed topsoil, and 45 cm as undisturbed subsoil, with 100 cm³ sampling cores for undisturbed soil and about 500 g of disturbed soil. For the second sets, 81 soil samples representing the same state as the first sampling plus three additional distances from the sheet pipe (0 m, 1 m, and 2 m) were collected after harvesting. Both disturbed soil (\approx 500 g) and undisturbed soil with 100 cm³ cores were collected. The average temperatures during soil sampling were 17.1°C (1st sampling) and 12.1°C (2nd sampling), respectively.

Field infiltration was analyzed with a DIK-4201-cylinder intake rate meter at distances of 10 m and 30 m from the drain outlet after sheet-pipe installation (at the 1st soil sampling) and after one rice cropping (at the 2nd soil sampling). In the laboratory, the soil texture (% sand, silt, and clay) was analyzed using the

pipette method and classified as per the US Department of Agriculture (USDA) procedure. Soil moisture content was measured using the gravimetric method. Saturated hydraulic conductivity was measured with a Daiki permeameter (DIK-4050) using the falling head method. In this study, Ks (cm s⁻¹) value was converted to a logarithmic value (-log Ks). The soil organic carbon (SOC, %) was determined using the ignition loss method with a muffle furnace (ADVANTEC KL-160) and was calculated from the difference of dried weight of 105°C and 550°C divided by dried weight at 105°C x 100. Soil bulk density (BD) was analyzed using the dry core method (Rowell, 1994). Soil-water characteristic curves were drawn using the hanging column method for lower suction values (-10 cm to -150 cm) and the centrifuge method (KOKUSAN 2750) for high suction values (pF=2.4 to 4.2). The soil-water characteristic curves were used to formulate three prediction trends at lower suction values, S-shape, and higher suction values. The Young-Laplace equation was then applied together with these three prediction trends to calculate the pore size distribution. In this study, $> 50 \ \mu m$ of pore size was classified as a macro-pore (MaP), and 50 to 0.5 μm as a meso-pore (MeP) (Lal & Shukla 2004). Plant available moisture (PAM) was calculated for a difference between pF 2.0 and pF 4.2 (Lal & Shukla, 2004). The units of all pores were cm³ cm⁻³. The HORIBA HM-20p pH meter and HORIBA ES-14 conductivity meter were used to measure soil pH and electrical conductivity (EC, µS m⁻¹) in 1:5 deionized water, respectively. Total carbonate (total CO₃) was measured using volumetric analysis (Rowell 1994). Disturbed soil samples were used to determine soil texture and analyze SOC, pH, and EC.

3.2.3 Statistical Analyses

Statistical analyses such as Pearson's correlation, linear regression analysis, analysis of variance F-test, a multi-collinearity test, and formulating with an adjusted R^2 test were analyzed with SPSS-15. Firstly, ANOVA (analysis of variance) for factorial design was carried out for three factors. Herein, rice

cropping was analyzed with paired t-test. Distances, streamlines and soil depths (N=27) were main effects and checked their interactions with two & three ways. After that, combined analysis was carried out for the same stream site due to different distances and soil depths. All means were compared to identify the changes under the installed sheet-pipe before and after rice cropping at the stream sites with installed pipe, and at specific distances from the sheet-pipe at all soil depths, with a least significant difference of 5%.

3.3 Results and Discussion

3.3.1 General Properties of Soils

Soil Depth	Sand (%)	Silt (%)	Clay (%)	Soil Texture (USDA, 1994)	pH (H2O 1:5)	EC (µS cm ⁻¹)	CaCO3 (%)
10 cm	75.5(±1.3)	15.2(±2.1)	13.3(±1.7)	Sandy	6.7	58.9	5.2 (±1.5)
				loam	(±0.2)	(±9.9)	
25 cm 74.2(±4.	$74.2(\pm 4.6)$	13.2(±4.5)	12.6(±1.4)	Sandy	6.6	76.6	5.9 (±1.1)
	/4.2(±4.0)			loam	(±0.3)	(±16.7)	
15 am	81.6(±1.4)	9.7(±1.6)	8.7(±1.0)	Loamy	6.7	79.7	6.5 (±2.3)
45 CIII				sand	(±0.2)	(±15.5)	

 Table 3.2 General characteristics of soils

* Numbers in parentheses denote standard deviations.

Number of disturbed samples = 108 (27 before +81 after rice cropping).

As shown in Table 3.2, the soil texture in the study field was sandy loam in the upper two layers (10 cm, 25 cm) and loamy sand in the deeper layer (45 cm). Although soil pH at a soil depth of 10 cm was not different from that at 45 cm, the EC and total CO_3 (%) values at a soil depth of 45 cm were higher than those in the upper two layers.

The basic intake rate at a 2-m distance from the sheet-pipe after rice cropping showed a slightly higher trend than that at a 2-m distance before rice cropping (Table 3.3).

	2-m JAISP (before)			2-m ISP (after)		
Expression	10 m from outlet	30 m from outlet	Average	10 m from outlet	30 m from outlet	Average
Basic Intake rate (mm h ⁻¹)	2.9	5.9	4.4	4.9	12.0	8.5

Table 3.3 Comparison of Infiltration test before and after rice cropping

2-m JAISP denotes testing at a 2-m distance from the sheet-pipe just after installation before rice (fodder) cultivation.

2-m ISP denotes testing at a 2-m distance from the installed sheet-pipe after rice (fodder) harvesting.

3.3.2 Changes and Difference in Soil Physical Properties

Figure 3.2 shows differences and changes of some soil properties (N=27 =3x3x3). In this study, "change" refers to changes due to a rice cropping (before & After, Figure 3.2); "difference" refers to the differences among stream lines, distance and soil depths (Figure 3.2 & Table 3.4).

There is a significant difference for the average according to a rice cropping (P<0.01). For the streamline, there is a significant difference of the average for BD (Bulk Density), SOC (Soil organic Carbon), - log Ks (Saturated hydraulic conductivity) and MaP (Macropores). And for the soil depth, there is a significant difference of the average for BD, SOC and MeP (Mesopores). Regarding for MeP, there is a significant difference among a rice cropping, distance and soil depth.










Figure 3.2 Changes and difference in a) soil bulk density (g cm⁻³), b) soil organic carbon (%), c) saturated hydraulic conductivity (-log *K*s), d) macropores (cm³ cm⁻³), e) mesopores (cm³ cm⁻³), and f) plant available moisture (PAM, cm³ cm⁻³) at different soil depths, stream sites, and sheet pipe distances during a rice cropping.

Before= before rice cultivation

After=after rice cultivation

Error bars express as standard deviations.

Pc<0.01 means that changes in soil properties during a rice cropping are statistically highly significant at P<0.01.

- Psp<0.05 means that changes in soil properties regarding distances from the sheet-pipe are statistically significant at P<0.05.
- Pss<0.01means that changes in soil properties under different stream sites are highly statistically significant at P<0.01.
- Psd<0.01means that changes in soil properties at different soil depths shows highly statistically significant at P<0.01.

Figure 3.2 a and b show the changes and differences in average BD and SOC. At all soil depths, average BD basically became smaller and average SOC became larger after a rice cropping compared with those before a rice cropping. Average BD at 2-m distance from the sheet-pipe through the soil layers was reduced from 1.42 g cm⁻³ (before rice cropping) to 1.35 g cm⁻³ (after rice cropping). In contrast, average SOC through the soil layers increased from 1.5% (before) to 3.2 % (after).

Regarding the streamline after a rice cropping, average BD (1.39 g cm⁻³) of upstream was slightly larger than those of downstream (1.33 g cm⁻³). After a rice cropping, SOC content at depth of 25 cm was larger than that of 10 cm depth.

Figure 3.2 c to f show change and difference of - log *K*s, MaP, MeP and PAM (Plant Available Moisture) at each distance, stream-line and soil depth before and after a rice cropping.

Although -log *K*s generally became smaller after a rice cropping, MaP, MeP, and PAM became almost larger than those before cropping at all depths. After a rice cropping, average - log *K*s became smaller from upstream to downstream. Regarding the soil depths, the average value of -log *Ks* at depth of 45 cm was the minimum.

A large portion of MeP increased near the sheet-pipe downstream. Average MeP was $0.23 \text{ cm}^3 \text{ cm}^{-3}$ at 25 cm depth, and $0.21 \text{ cm}^3 \text{ cm}^{-3}$ at 45 cm depth.

Increases in (MaP+ MeP) at 2-m distance at 25 cm & 45 cm soil depth after a rice cropping were different from those at 2-m distance before a rice cropping. And an average (MaP + MeP) at 45 cm depth downstream rose from 0.03 + 0.14cm³ cm⁻³ (2-m distance before rice cropping) to 0.03+ 0.24 cm³ cm⁻³ (0-m distance after rice cropping). With the conventional subsurface drainage used in paddy fields, saturated hydraulic conductivity and macro-pores mostly increased (Talukolaee *et al.* 2018).

3.3.3 Relations between soil properties and saturated hydraulic conductivity

Figure 3.3 shows the relations between saturated hydraulic conductivity (-log *K*s) and some soil properties before and after a rice cropping for each depth (N=36=9(before) +27(after)). The regression lines were also put.

The larger - log *K*s, the larger for BD but the smaller for SOC, MaP, MeP and PAM for all depths. According to a rice cropping, BD decreased, while SOC, MaP, MeP and PAM increased for all soil depths. There are the largest R^2 between -log *K*s and SOC (0.74-0.81), and BD (0.65-0.78) follows.

3.3.4. Average soil properties according to each factor

Table 3.4 shows the comparison of each soil property (average, N=3) at the different soil depths due to the same stream sites and distances from the sheetpipe after a rice cropping. Statistical grouping was analyzed and some soil properties profiles were shown. Basically, there was clear difference among the soil depths and each soil characteristic of deeper depth is different from those of shallow ones. For example, BD of 45 cm depth were different from those of 10 cm and 25 cm depth under the same stream site and distance. However, only MeP at 0-m distance, at 45 cm depth downstream was larger in deeper depth than other places. Large average value of MeP were found in deeper depth especially downstream.



Figure 3.3 Relationships between saturated hydraulic conductivity (-log *Ks*) and a) bulk density, b) soil organic carbon (%), c) macropores (cm³ cm⁻³), d) mesopores (cm³ cm⁻³), and e) plant available moisture (cm³ cm⁻³).

Before= before rice cultivation After=after rice cultivation Regression equations are shown for each soil property. There, x means $-\log Ks$ and Y means each soil property such as soil bulk density (g cm⁻³), soil organic carbon (%), macropores (cm³ cm⁻³), mesopores (cm³ cm⁻³), and plant available moisture (cm³ cm⁻³).

stream		soil						
site	distances	depths	BD	-log Ks	SOC	MeP	MaP	PAM
	(m)	(cm)						
up	0	10	1.3367 B	3.1700 A	2.7367 в	0.2097 A	0.0433 A	0.2036 B
		25	1.3467 B	3.1400 A	3.7267 A	0.2100 A	0.0500 A	0.2187 в
		45	1.4200 A	2.4100 в	1.9500 C	0.1993 A	0.0467 A	0.2516 A
	1	10	1.3400 b	3.3667 a	2.6600 b	0.2267 a	0.0400 b	0.2645 a
		25	1.3500 b	3.1600 a	3.4800 a	0.2200 a	0.0400 b	0.1793 b
		45	1.4233 a	2.6333 b	1.9033 c	0.1900 b	0.0833 a	0.1559 c
	2	10	1.3433 β	3.5433 α	2.5733 β	0.2567 α	0.0333 Υ	0.2530 β
		25	1.3533 β	3.3633 α	3.3900 α	0.2567 α	0.0433 β	0.2840 α
		45	1.4267 α	3.3133 β	1.7467 Y	0.2333 β	0.0533 α	0.2302 Υ
mid	0	10	1.2933 H	2.6467 G	4.1467 G	0.2300 G	0.0467 н	0.2325 н
		25	1.3133 н	2.3333 G	4.4033 G	0.2333 G	0.0533 G	0.2205 н
		45	1.3900 G	2.3333 G	2.1200 н	0.1800 H	0.0467 н	0.2580 G
	1	10	1.3100 Y	2.7200 X	4.0767 X	0.2300 X	0.0400 X	0.2048 Y
		25	1.3167 Y	2.7100 X	4.1733 X	0.2333 X	0.0367 X	0.2266 X
		45	1.4000 X	2.7467 X	2.0800 Y	0.1867 Y	0.0267 Y	0.2345 X
	2	10	1.3067 z	2.6100 x	4.0100 x	0.2333 x	0.0500 y	0.2046 z
		25	1.3333 y	2.7633 x	4.1467 x	0.2333 x	0.0667 x	0.2267 y
		45	1.4167 x	2.8600 x	2.1033 y	0.1900 y	0.0400 z	0.2570 x
down	0	10	1.2567 q	2.4967 p	4.7267 p	0.1927 q	0.0367 p	0.2353 p
		25	1.2767 q	2.2033 p	4.7400 p	0.2400 p	0.0367 p	0.2236 pq
		45	1.3467 p	2.1767 p	2.4767 q	0.2433 p	0.0267 q	0.2138 q
	1	10	1.2867 e	2.5333 d	4.5167 d	0.2333 d	0.0300 e	0.2468 d
		25	1.2833 e	2.2833 d	4.5700 d	0.2433 d	0.0333 e	0.2335 d
		45	1.3567 d	2.3433 d	2.3800 e	0.2333 d	0.0500 d	0.2109 e
	2	10	1.3000 E	2.4233 D	4.4067 D	0.2467 D	0.0267 D	0.2279 E
		25	1.2967 E	2.4467 D	4.4133 D	0.2433 D	0.0267 D	0.2485 D
		45	1.3633 D	2.4967 D	2.2000 E	0.2133 E	0.0300 E	0.1893 F

Table 3.4 Comparison of average of some soil characteristics at differentsoil depths due to the same stream site and distance

BD; soil bulk density (g cm⁻³), *K*s; hydraulic conductivity (cm s⁻¹), SOC: soil organic carbon (%), MaP; macro-pores (cm³ cm⁻³), MeP; meso-pores (cm cm⁻³) and PAM (plant available moisture, cm³ cm⁻³), respectively.

3.4 Discussion

After a single rice cropping, the change & difference of BD, SOC, and -log Ks (Figure 3.2 a, b, c) were observed. Smaller BD and larger SOC were found even at deeper layers (25 cm & 45 cm) and downstream after a rice cropping. At the shallow depths, the intrusion of rice roots basically induced a reduction in BD. But these change were induced not only rice roots & sheet-pipe installation but also by many management practices, including rice cropping management practices such as manuring, land cultivation, and water management, etc. BD and SOC were also associated with -log Ks (Figure 3.3 a and b). Ultimately, we could identify no significant impacts caused by the use of sheet-pipe.

This study also found a large portion of larger pores (MaP + MeP). Despite the clear increases in MeP at soil depths of 25 cm and 45 cm, there were no clear increase in MaP (Figure 3.2 d and e). In particular, a large portion of MeP was found at the downstream site of 0-m distance and a depth of 45 cm (Table 3.4).

Larger pores normally develop from the soil surface due to natural drying. However, this study found increases in MeP at deeper layers, with MaP development not being clear. This is not normal. It seems feasible to understand that under the opening conditions of the sheet-pipe end (outlet), the air was ventilated or moved into the sheet-pipe, especially near the drainage outlet (i.e. downstream). We could expect air intrusion and drying near the drainage outlet to induce MeP development.

In our long-term study, increases in both MaP & MeP were clear (Soe *et al.*, 2019), but in this study an increase in only MeP was distinct. The sheet-pipe used in this study lasted only seven months, whereas those used in our previous long-term study were installed for 7 and 12 years, respectively.

These larger pores are responsible for water movement (Eusufzai & Fujii, 2012). The sheet-pipe was apparently responsible for MeP development, which is a sign regarding the transition of MaP development. It is widely known that the development of MaP required several years (Eigendbrod, 2003). Tabuchi (1968) also referred to the generation of cracks in paddy soils under traditional drainage as a function of dryness that takes several years.

3.5 Conclusion

This study investigated the changes in some soil properties under installed sheet-pipe, one of the subsurface drainage technologies, in a paddy field with regard to the stream sites of drainage, distance from the sheet-pipe, and soil depths (layers) during a rice cropping. As a result, during only one rice cropping, we could find no significant impacts caused by the sheet-pipe on some soil properties, except for larger pores. We observed larger MeP (meso-pores) portions at distances of 0 m and 1 m from the sheet-pipe at deeper soil layers (at depths of 25 and 45 cm), especially downstream.

Although the differences in macro-pores in this study were not significant, meso-pores are supposed to lead to the development of macro-pores and cracks, as well as improved drainage characteristics in the future. An increase in mesopores in this study was assumed to be a transition state of small cracks or macropores. Therefore, the spatial distribution of cracks or MaP under installed sheetpipe must be clarified, and these developing rates and periods should be investigated as part of future studies.

Chapter 4

Long-term Impacts of Perforated Sheet-pipe as Shallow Subsurface Drain on Some Paddy Soils Properties

Abstract

Recent studies suggested not to neglect drainage as a proper water management option for sustainable agricultural production and to upgrade shallow subsurface drainage system for integrated use. As shallow subsurface drains can accelerate water flow by gravity and improve soil aeration, the installation of perforated sheet-pipes in Japanese paddy fields probably influence on soil functions and properties for a long-term. This study focuses on some changes in soil properties around the sheet-pipes at a depth of 40 cm in paddy soils after a long-term installation. Using $(3 \times 3 \times 2)$ factorial design with three replications, we collected soil samples on farmland in Hisayama, Fukuoka, and Usa, Oita, in Japan in 2017. Three factors in this experiment were three-stream sites (upstream, midstream, and downstream), three distances from the sheet-pipe (0 m = center, 1 m, and 2 m), and two soil layers at 10 cm and 25 cm, respectively. We measured thirteen potentially changeable soil properties and analyzed the data statistically by F test. We compared all means at least the 5% significantly different level. As a result, there was a major improvement in air-filled capacity and infiltration at the center of sheet-pipe. Moreover, changes in soil bulk density were significant near the sheet-pipe, with an increase in soil organic carbon and total carbonate content. These promoted changes in soil aggregation and an increase in macro-pores & porosity that allowed more water & air to pass through. In sum, changes in soil properties after a long-term installation of the sheet-pipe were more distinct according to the distances than those of the stream sites (from irrigation point to drainage outlet).

4.1 Introduction

The perspective for future drainage highlights to improve crop production with a climate-smart drainage. According to the 2025s timeline prediction, it requires to develop and supply the world food demands targeting an increase from 1 to 1.5% under irrigated and from 0.5 to 1% under rain-fed agriculture. To achieve these marks, field drainage is necessary in both irrigated and rain-fed conditions (Smedema, 2000; Wrachien and Feddes, 2004). Furthermore, development of future agricultural field drainage techniques also stresses integrated use of water, cost & labor savings, and environmental safeguarding (UNEP, 2016). Recent studies suggested not to neglect the agricultural drainage and to upgrade or modify drainage technology (Wrachien and Fasso, 2002; Nijland *et al.*, 2005; Schultz *et al.*, 2015). Especially, subsurface drainage has been proposed as one of the possible solutions to meet the above mentioned. The main reason is that subsurface drainage can protect crops from moisture-related issues, reduce the negative environmental impacts on agriculture such as pollution, salinity, acidity, and a decrease in peak flow of downstream flooding (Simundsson et al., 2016).

Using a subsurface drain helps to improve soil aeration, remove salts near root zone. As a result, plant can develop well and crop production can increase (Ritzema *et al.*, 2008). In addition, he suggested that application of modern drainage management practice such as dual purposed drains for subsurface irrigation and drainage could approach to future agricultural sustainability. This practice must meet required food production, save water resources, and sustain our ecosystems (Madramootoo *et al.*, 2007). As subsurface drain with combined irrigation techniques can adjust soil moisture regime to store much available water, it is considered one of the effective water management for crop production as well as the only solution for providing land reclamation on a long-term basis (Tiwari and Goel, 2017).

Subsurface drains with tiles are mostly installed in agricultural land. These are made from clay or plastic as conventional drains and perforated plastic sheetpipes as modified ones. Using tile drains helped to enhance gravity flow in soil profile. Besides, soil structure under tile drains was better with improving soil porosity, tilth, and the trafficability of soil (Geohring and Steenhuis 1987; Madramootoo *et al.*, 1997; Hillel 1998; Josa *et al.*, 2013). Thereby, soil chemical properties varied together with soil physical and hydraulic changes, but their impacts were different due to different regions (Mallika *et al.*, 2018; Daniel *et al.*, 2019). In terms of agronomic benefits, installing tile drains made soils warmer than undrained soils. This drained land lead to earlier spring sowing & germination of seeds, much developing crop growth, and more increase in crop yields (Singh *et al.*, 2008; Yang and Zhang, 2010). Thus, Colwell (1978) reported that yield from tile drainage increased 35, 32, 48, 47, 27% for grain corn, soybeans, wheat, oats, hay, respectively.

Subsurface drainage has some positive and negative impacts on environmental greenhouse gas emissions. Installing tile drains in paddy fields reduced methane gas and nitrous oxide emission (Kimura *et al.*, 2004; Wang *et al.*, 2011; Skinner *et al.* 2014; Smith *et al.* 2014). It greatly reduced nitrogen and phosphate pollution at the downstream site of paddy fields (FAO, 2007). Sug (2007) reported that subsurface drainage affected wildlife ecosystems for wetland habitats as a negative impact. As subsurface drainage is a long term installation, it is necessary to understand its effects on soil properties over time for improvement of soil and water management (Schultz *et al.*, 2007). Thus, future research should address the impact of subsurface drainage on soils and its ecosystems (UNEP *et al.*, 2014). Kumar *et al.* (2014) observed that an integrating with tillage, impacts of the long-term subsurface drainage (tile) significantly improved soil organic carbon content, soil aggregation, and porosity in the corncorn cropping system. However, their observations showed at the upper soil layer of 10 cm depth. Some impacts near the installed pipe for long term solutions were still unknown.

Recently, the perforated sheet-pipe has been extensively installed at paddy fields in Japan (JASPiP, 2014). Installing shallow subsurface drain has some benefits of controlling the flooded lowlands as well as the groundwater table. Besides, it helps to facilitate operation of farm machineries and to convert lowland paddy soil to upland. However, research on long term impacts of the installed sheet-pipe in paddy soils is still limited. To develop the future drainage system especially in Japan for sustainable production, Ogino and Ota, (2007) suggested to understand the impacts on paddy soil properties of current water management practice.

Therefore, the main objective of this study is to investigate a long-term impacts of perforated sheet pipe installation on paddy soil properties. Changes in such soil properties should vary with three-stream sites (upstream-near irrigation inlet, midstream- between irrigation inlet and drainage outlet, downstream- near drainage outlet, three-distances from the sheet-pipe (0 m=center, 1 m and 2 m), and two-soil depths (layers at 10 cm, 25 cm).

4.2 Materials and methods

4.2.1 Study Sites and Experimental Design

The study site of the soil sampling area in Hisayama (Figure 4.1a), Fukuoka Prefecture was located at the geographic coordinates of north latitude 33° 38' and east longitude 130° 30'. Its area was 1282 m². The paddy had cultivated for many years under the management of a farmer. However, at the time of soil sampling, it was fallow. In this field, the perforated sheet pipe had



Figure 4.1 Geographic position of study sites, a) Hisayama and b) Usa



Figure 4.2 Soil sampling layout in the study sites

installed at 40 cm of the soil depth 15 years before. The second study site at Usa (Figure 4.1b), Oita Prefecture was located at the geographic coordinates of north latitude 33° 32' and east longitude 131° 23'. Its area was 516 m². Paddy rice and soybeans were cultivated alternately under the management of an institute of agricultural research. Soil sampling was carried out after the harvest of soybeans in this field. In this study site, the perforated sheet pipe was installed 7 years ago

at a depth of 40 cm. In both study fields, perforated sheet pipes were laid out as 4 m spacing between each.

Fifty-four units of soil samples were collected in each field according to the pre-layout experimental design (Figure 4.2), as factorials with three replications. Treatment factors were three different stream sites, three sheet pipe distances and two soil depths. Different stream sites refer to upstream, midstream and downstream, and three sheet pipe distances characterize as center (0 m), 1 m and 2 m apart from the sheet pipes installed. According to soil heterogeneity at two distinct soil layers, soil sampling was carried out at two soil depths, 10 cm and 25 cm, respectively. Based on the soil texture, three replications at least 1 m distant were done. Undisturbed core samples were collected to determine the saturated hydraulic conductivity, soil water characteristic curves and soil bulk density in the laboratory. Composite soil samples (disturbed) were brought for the determination of selected soil properties. Soil sampling was carried out in September 2017 at Hisayama and October 2017 at Usa.

4.2.2 Soil Analysis

Region	Soil depths	Sand (%)	Silt (%)	Clay (%)	Textural classification
Hisayama	10 cm	45.5 ± 3.8	20.7 ± 5.3	33.8 ± 6.3	Sandy Clay loam
	25 cm	44.9 ± 3.9	22.3 ± 7.2	32.8 ± 7.7	Clay
Usa	10 cm	53.6 ± 6.9	12.0 ±2.2	34.4 ± 6.7	Sandy Clay Loam
	25 cm	51.1 ± 5.2	6.4 ±3.2	42.5 ± 4.0	Sandy Clay

 Table 4.1 Textural classification at different soil depths of paddy soils

Numbers in front of \pm are means and behind \pm are standard deviations

Classification of soil texture is an important characteristic for installing a specific drain, and soil textural proportions could vary by different soil depths, different landscapes, different causes of soil erosion, etc. In this study, the USDA textural classification was determined using the pipette method. The mean proportion of sand, silt and clay at different soil depths with standard deviations are shown in Table 4.1. Soil bulk density (BD) was calculated by using undisturbed core samples based on the ratio of dry soil weight (g) to core sample volume (cm³) (Rowell, 1994). Soil organic carbon (SOC, %) was determined using the loss of ignition method (Rowell, 1994) in a muffle furnace (FM 48) at 500 °C for 5 h to get the constant weight. This determination method was only for total carbon as an organic source (Schumacher, 2002). Soil porosity (f) is an important soil physical characteristic of being porous that permits air or water to pass through, and it was calculated using a theoretical formula (Lal and Shukla, 2004). Saturated hydraulic conductivity (*Ks*) is a property of soil water movement within the saturated soil profile, and its unit can be expressed as cm day⁻¹. Using its negative logarithmic values, it can be predicted that lower values mean greater intensity. Generally, measurement of saturated hydraulic conductivity was based on Darcy's law. In this study, a DK-4050 instrument with the falling head method was used to predict its property. The soil water characteristic curve (pF) in this study was developed to estimate the soil hydraulic properties as the plant available moisture (PAM), soil moisture content at field capacity (FC), permanent wilting point (PWP) and air-filled capacity (AC). In this study, the hanging column method was utilized for the determination of lower soil suction values and the centrifuged method (KOKUSAN 2750) for higher suction values. AC was calculated using the difference of water content at saturated condition $(m^3 m^{-3})$ and FC $(m^3 m^{-3})$. Plant available moisture was determined from the difference between soil water content at the FC (pF = 2.0) and PWP (pF = 4.2) (Lal and Shukla, 2004). Using pF curves, three prediction trends at lower suction values, S-shape and higher suction values were formulated in Microsoft Excel

2010. The Young–Laplace equation (1983) was then applied together with these three prediction trends to calculate the macropores (MaP) (> 50 μ m), mesopores (MeP) (0.2 to 30 µm) and storage pores (StoP) (0.5 to 50 µm) based on the Kay (1990, 1998) and Greenland (1977) classifications. Based on the best estimation of soil structural index (Kemper and Rosenau, 1987), the water stable microaggregates (< 0.25 mm) were found to be insensitive to soil management (Tisdall and Oades, 1982). Thus, water-dispersed aggregate of 0.25 mm in diameter was assumed as the boundary between micro-aggregates and macro-aggregates and fraction size distribution was determined by CIMMYT (2003). Soil pH was measured at the 1:5 deionized water using the pH meter HM-20p, HORIBA (Rowell 1994). Electrical conductivity (EC, μ S m⁻¹), an indicator for soil salinity and predictor for accumulated salt load in soil, was measured using the extracted 1:5 soil suspensions with the conductivity meter ES-14, HORIBA (Rowell 1994). Total carbonates (total CO₃), an indicator for inorganic carbon stands for sources of calcium and magnesium carbonates in soils, were measured using volumetric analysis (Rowell, 1994).

4.2.3 Statistical Analyses

All collected data were stored in Microsoft Excel 2010 and analyzed with the Stata-15 (2017) program. First, a descriptive statistic was performed. Then, an ANOVA table was constructed to identify the significance of the treatments using the F test. All means were then compared to a least significant difference level of 0.05. Relationships between the measured soil properties were determined using Spearman's rank correlation analysis. Based on the progress or decline of the measured soil properties (mean), positive or negative impacts were predicted in this study.

4.3 Results and discussion

4.3.1 Impacts of Perforated Sheet Pipe Distances on Soil Physical Properties

Changes in soil physical properties are shown in Figure 4.3 for Hisayama and Figure 4.4 for Usa. Changes in soil bulk densities in the two regions were highly significantly different at the 1% level due to sheet pipe distances and soil depths (Figures 4a, 5a). Average soil bulk density ranged from 1.41 to 1.47 g cm⁻³ in Hisayama and from 1.35 to 1.46 g cm⁻³ in Usa. In both regions, soil bulk density was reduced from 2 m of sheet pipe distance to the center of the sheet pipe installed at both layers.

A decline in soil bulk density was counted to 0.03 in the lower layer and 0.01 in the upper layer at Hisayama. At Usa, the decrements for both layers from 2 m to the center of sheet pipe distances were 0.03. In this study, decrease in soil bulk density from 2 m distance to the center of the installed sheet pipe was related to accumulation of soil organic carbon and evolution of soil porosity because of the negative correlations among BD versus SOC and BD versus f(r = -0.78, -0.88) in Hisayama and (r = -0.68, r = -0.71) in Usa (see Tables 4.3 and 4.4). Similarly, Chaudhari et al. (2013) explained that there were significant relationships among soil textures, organic matter content and total nutrients of Coimbatore soil. In this study, the nearer the sheet pipe, the lower the soil bulk density. This improvement indicated a positive impact of the installation of the sheet pipe. A significant accumulation of soil organic carbon (SOC) in two regions, as well as both layers, was observed (Figures 4.3 b and 4.4 b). More OM accumulated above the center of the sheet pipe than other places. It was more pronounced in Usa than those in Hisayama. Upper layer increments of SOC from 2 m to 0 m of the sheet pipe were from 7.13 to 7.48% in Hisayama and 9.75 to 10.77% in Usa. Greater SOC accumulation above the center of the sheet pipe in



Figure 4.3 Changes in soil physical properties in Hisayama due to perforated sheet pipe distances at different soil depths: a) soil bulk density; b) soil organic carbon; c) porosity; and d) stable aggregates

*The same letters shown on the bars are not significantly different at 5% by LSD and calculations based on 9 data of upstream, midstream, downstream, *sp means sheet pipe



Figure 4.4 Changes in soil physical properties in Usa due to sheet pipe distances at different soil depths: a) soil bulk density; b) soil organic carbon; c) porosity; and d) stable aggregates.

*The same letters shown on the bars are not significantly different at 5% by LSD and calculations based on 9 data of upstream, midstream, downstream. *sp means sheet pipe this study was related to negative correlations of $-\log Ks$ (r = -0.55 in Hisayama and r = -0.34 in Usa). In this study, one of the possible reasons why much SOC content occurred at this distance was the different plant root distribution. Much research showed that the addition of organic matter was related to an increase in SOC, hydraulic conductivity, and that it contributed to improvement in infiltration capacity (Haynes and Naidu, 1998). In this study, changes of SOC from 2 m to center of the sheet pipe presented as a positive impact.

Changes in soil porosity (f) in two regions were significantly different at the 1% level due to the sheet pipe distances and soil layers (Figures 4.3 c and 4.4 c). The pattern of its changes showed an increasing order from 2 m of the sheet pipe distance to the center. Both layers of two regions showed the same patterns. The maximum f (0.46 m³ m⁻³ in Hisayama and 0.49 m³ m⁻³ in Usa) occurred at the center of the sheet pipe and the minimums (0.37 m³ m⁻³ in Hisayama and 0.42 m³ m⁻³ in Usa) were at 2 m. The reason for increase in f above the sheet pipe was related to many soil properties in this study (Tables 4.2 and 4.3). Improvement in soil aggregation, accumulation of soil organic matter and evolution of soil bulk density above the sheet pipe probably contributed to the progress of f. This result showed formation of soil fractures or cracks in the soils. Similarly, the impact of the sheet pipe installation on f from 2 m to the center of the sheet pipe could be assumed positive. Changes in soil aggregation patterns in two regions were presented differently at two layers due to the sheet pipe distances (Figures. 4.3 d and 4.4 d). Significant changes in stable aggregate (< 0.25 mm) were observed at 1 m of the lower layer in Usa. More stable aggregates were observed in Usa (10.54%, n = 54) than in Hisayama (1.54%, n = 54). Stable soil aggregation was favored by lime application (Ca^{2+}) (Roth and Pavan, 1991), the presence of ionic strength and soil pH (6.0 to 6.6) (Castro and Logan, 1991).

Soil properties	(<0.25 mm)	BD (g cm ⁻³)	f(%)	MaP	-log Ks	PAM (% vol)	FC (%vol)	AC (% vol)	SOC(%)	pH(1:5)	EC (1:5) μS m ⁻¹	Total CO3	MeP	StoP
(<0.25 mm)	1													
BD (g cm ⁻³)	31(*)	1												
f(%)	.33(*)	88(**)	1											
MacP	.42(**)	0.12	-0.09	1										
-log Ks	-0.16	.83(**)	73(**)	0.08	1									
PAM (% v0l)	0.10	69(**)	.58(**)	- .38(**)	- .50(**)	1								
FC (%vol)	-0.11	61(**)	.54(**)	- .74(**)	- .43(**)	.72(**)	1							
AC (% vol)	.50(**)	-0.22	.38(**)	.75(**)	-0.25	-0.21	53(**)	1						
SOC(%)	0.16	68(**)	.60(**)	0.20	- .55(**)	.41(**)	0.13	.45(**)	1					
pH(1:5)	27(*)	.46(**)	30(*)	-0.18	.30(*)	-0.25	-0.09	-0.22	36(**)	1				
EC(1:5) μSm ⁻¹	0.15	.39(**)	33(*)	0.09	.32(*)	38(**)	-0.19	-0.12	64(**)	0.21	1			
Total CO3	0.22	.47(**)	35(*)	0.17	.39(**)	49(**)	-0.25	-0.07	62(**)	0.17	.82(**)	1		
MeP	0.21	74(**)	.79(**)	-0.09	- .60(**)	.45(**)	.31(*)	.46(**)	.73(**)	28(*)	52(**)	62(**)	1	
StoP	0.21	74(**)	.79(**)	-0.09	- .60(**)	.45(**)	.31(*)	.46(**)	.73(**)	28(*)	52(**)	62(**)	1.00(**)	1

Table 4.2 Matrix of correlation coefficients for all measured soil properties in Hisayama, Fukuoka (n=54)

* and ** stand for significant at P = 0.05 and P = 0.01, respectively

< 0.25 stable aggregates;	BD soil bulk density;	f porosity;
MaP macropores;	-log Ks saturated hydraulic conductivity (logarithmic value);	PAM plant available moisture;
FC field capacity;	AC air-filled capacity;	SOC soil organic carbon;
pH soil pH (1:5 water);	EC electrical conductivity (1:5 water);	Total CO3 soil inorganic carbon;
MeP mesopores	StoP storage pores	

Soil properties	(>0.25 mm)	BD (g cm ⁻³)	f (%)	MaP (%)	-log Ks	PAM (%)	FC (%)	AC (%)	SOC(%)	рН	EC (µSm- 1)	Total CO3	MeP	StoP
(>0.25 mm)	1													
BD (g cm- 3)	.74(**)	1												
f(%)	41(**)	71(**)	1											
MaP(%)	0.03	0.20	-0.16	1										
-log Ks	.34(*)	.66(**)	63(**)	0.17	1									
PAM (%)	0.14	.43(**)	57(**)	0.14	.46(**)	1								
FC(%)	-0.24	48(**)	.92(**)	-0.02	48(**)	39(**)	1							
AC (%)	54(**)	85(**)	.82(**)	32(*)	67(**)	68(**)	.54(**)	1						
SOC(%)	59(**)	74(**)	.63(**)	-0.05	34(*)	43(**)	.40(**)	.79(**)	1					
pН	0.06	0.16	-0.22	0.08	-0.06	0.23	-0.21	-0.17	32(*)	1				
EC (μSm ⁻¹)	0.25	.41(**)	28(*)	.36(**)	.70(**)	.30(*)	-0.14	41(**)	-0.11	-0.20	1			
Total CO ₃	.33(*)	.46(**)	-0.22	-0.03	.44(**)	.29(*)	-0.04	42(**)	38(**)	0.01	.30(*)	1		
MeP	.30(*)	.41(**)	44(**)	.42(**)	.38(**)	.47(**)	-0.25	60(**)	34(*)	-0.23	.34(*)	0.19	1	.29(*)
StoP	-0.12	-0.13	.39(**)	.40(**)	-0.04	-0.18	.49(**)	0.13	.27(*)	-0.26	0.07	0.01	.29(*)	1

 Table 4.3 Matrix of correlation coefficients for all measured soil properties in Usa, Oita (n=54)

* and ** stand for significant at P = 0.05 and P = 0.01, respectively

< 0.25 stable aggregates;	BD soil bulk density;	f porosity;
MaP macropores;	-log Ks saturated hydraulic conductivity (logarithmic value);	PAM plant available moisture;
FC field capacity;	AC air-filled capacity;	SOC soil organic carbon;
pH soil pH (1:5 water);	EC electrical conductivity (1:5 water);	Total CO3 soil inorganic carbon;
MeP mesopores	StoP storage pores	

The presence of stable aggregates in Usa was highly related to BD, f, AC and SOC (r = 0.74, -0.41, -0.54 and -0.59 in Table 4.3). The presence of more stable aggregate in Hisayama was highly related to MaP and AC (r = 0.42 and r = 0.50 in Table 4.2). In this study, the presence of more stable aggregates probably accelerated to preferential water flow of soils as well as the air passing through by macropores or cracks. Based on the changes in stable aggregates in two regions, impact due to the installation of sheet pipe from 2 m and above assumed as neither positive nor negative.

4.3.2 Impacts of Perforated Sheet Pipe Distances on Soil Hydraulic Properties

The results in Figures 4.5 and 4.6 showed that there were significant changes in hydraulic properties in soils such as saturated hydraulic conductivity (-log Ks), plant available moisture (PAM), field capacity (FC), macropore volume (MaP), air-filled capacity (AC) and mesopore volume (MeP) according to the sheet pipe distances with different layers in two regions. The pattern of changes in these properties presented differently. Although there was no significant change in -log Ks within a layer, some increasing trends of -log Ks observed within a short distance in both regions (Figures 4.5 a and 4.6 a). It meant that the more adjacent a region was to the sheet pipe, the greater the Ks. Minimum -log Ks (3.2 in Hisayama and 2.3 in Usa) was observed at the center of the sheet pipe installed. As there were high correlations among -log Ks, soil bulk density, soil organic carbon content, and total carbonate in two regions (Tables 4.2 and 4.3), it could be one of the reasons of faster infiltration occurred. Thus, installation of sheet pipe in the study sites had a positive impact on Ks. Changes in PAM, FC, MaP and MeP content at every sheet pipe distances in the two regions are shown in Figures 4.5 and 4.6 b, c, e and f, respectively. Generally, PAM at the center of the sheet pipe was lower than in other places. The decrease in PAM from 2 m



Figure 4.5 Changes in soil hydraulic properties in Hisayama: a) saturated hydraulic conductivity (-log Ks); b) plant available moisture (PAM); c) field capacity (FC); d) macropores (MaP); e) airfilled capacity (AC); and f) mesopores (MeP).

*The same letters shown on the bars are not significantly different at 5% by LSD and calculations based on 9 data of upstream, midstream and downstream, *sp means sheet pipe



Figure 4.6 Changes in soil hydraulic properties in Usa: a) saturated hydraulic conductivity (-log Ks); b) plant available water moisture (PAM); c) field capacity (FC); d) macropores (MaP); e) air-filled capacity (AC); and f) mesopores (MeP).

*The same letters shown on the bars are not significantly different at 5% by LSD and calculations based on 9 data of upstream, midstream and downstream *sp means sheet pipe

to center of the installed sheet pipe at upper layer could count as 4% in Hisayama and 3% in Usa. The lower PAM above the center of the sheet pipe correlated with the high soil water infiltration and other soil chemical properties (Tables 4.2 and 4.3). The presence of storage pores contributed less to this property. In addition, potentially drought-prone could be observed above the center of sheet pipe because the PAM results were less than optimum content of 0.10 to 0.15 $m^3 m^{-3}$ (Cockroft and Olsson, 1997). Therefore, the impact of the sheet pipe on this property assumed as negative. In two regions, the maximum water content at field capacity (FC) or upper limit of the soil water storage showed differently at $0.33 \text{ m}^3 \text{ m}^{-3}$ at 2 m distance of the sheet pipe in Hisayama and $0.37 \text{ m}^3 \text{ m}^{-3}$ above the sheet pipe in Usa. These differences were related to different soil textures, land management practices including tillage operation, cultivated crops, and manure applications. The reasons why strong correlations observed between FC and -log Ks, MaP, and SOC in both soils (Tables 4.2 and 4.3) were due to the presence of organic matter in soils and the retained water against the gravity of water flow due to macropores (Lopez and Barclay, 2017; Oliveira et al., 2015). Although the similar increasing trends of FC were noticed in the lower layers of both soils, those of upper layers were irregular. Thus, the impact produced by the sheet-pipe installation on FC could be recognized as neither positive nor negative. Non-uniform patterns of MaP (m³ m⁻³) contributions were seen in both soil layers of Hisayama and Usa (Figures 4.4 d and 4.5 d). Surface macropores could vary temporarily due to farm management including tillage, weeding (Josa et al., 2013) and root distribution (Dohnal et al., 2009). In this study, non-uniform changes in MaP due to the installation of sheet pipe were related to the presence of stable aggregate in Hisayama and enhancement of air-filled capacity in both regions. As the studied soils were in fine-textured soils, this situation would probably contribute to the formation of macropores under wet and dry conditions together with the presence of organic matter and transport of water & air flow

(White, 1985). In summary, the impact of the sheet pipe installation on this soil could not identify clearly as positive or negative. The trends of AC ($m^3 m^{-3}$) produced by the installation of sheet pipe in the two regions (Figures 4.5 and 4.6 e) tend to be in increasing order from 2 m to 0 m, and it was more advanced in the upper layers. The reason for the greater AC near the sheet pipe was highly related to BD, *f*, -log *Ks* and many other soil properties (Tables 4.2 and 4.3). For the surface soils, AC should be as at least 0.10 to 0.15 m³ m⁻³ for adequate root growth (Cockroft and Olsson, 1997). In this study, AC above the sheet pipe was 0.10 m³ m⁻³ in Hisayama and 0.09 m³ m⁻³ in Usa. Although these values were optimum for the adjacent sheet pipe, those from further distances were below optimum. Thus, progress of the AC occurred above the sheet pipe and was considered as a positive impact.

MeP ($m^3 m^{-3}$) of both soil layers in the two regions showed differently (Figures 4.5 f and 4.6 f). However, their changes due to the sheet pipe distances and soil depths were statistically different at 1% level. In Hisayama, their patterns at both layers were in increasing order but the opposite occurred in Usa. Maximum MeP content (0.16 m³ m⁻³) was found above the center of the upper layer in Hisayama, and that content (0.10 m³ m⁻³) occurred at the lower layer of the 2 m distance in Usa. These patterns were shown in two regions because there was a link between the presence of MeP and soil textural conditions, especially in silt content (Table 4.1), the presence of soil organic carbon in two regions and water flows in the soil profile, -log Ks (Tables 4.2 and 4.3). Beck et al. (2003) discussed the water retention and its transfer properties as the pore space characteristics determined by a function of relative humidity. In this study, changes in this soil property form 2 m to center was probably due to the accumulation of water transport materials such as organic carbon, soluble carbonates, salts, and moisture retained there (Moret and Arrue, 2007; Reynolds et al., 2003; Mordhorst et al., 2017). As changes in MeP due to the sheet pipe

distances in two regions showed differently, its impact assumed as neither positive nor negative.

4.3.3 Impacts of Perforated Sheet Pipe Distances on Soil Chemical Properties

Table 4.4 Changes in soil chemical properties by sheet pipe distances in tworegions and its impact

	Soil chemical properties										
Region		pH(1:5)		EC	C(1:5)µS 1	<u>n⁻¹</u>	<u>Total CO3</u>				
Region	Cen-	1 m	2 m	Cen-	1 m	2 m	Cen-	1 m	2 m		
	ter			ter			ter				
Hicovo	6.50b	6.62a	6.47b	13.47a	12.88b	10.06c	8.80a	8.39a	6.25b		
IIIsaya-	\pm	\pm	\pm	\pm	\pm	\pm	<u>+</u>	\pm	\pm		
ma	0.32	0.25	0.12	3.17	3.42	3.49	2.18	1.72	3.45		
Usa	6.73a ± 0.12	6.71a ± 0.11	6.77a ±0.23	29.05a ± 15.63	31.72a ± 13.23	34.54a ± 14.28	7.96a ± 4.9	8.29a ± 3.86	8.49a ± 4.71		
Impacts (Positive/ Negative)		Neither			Neither			Neither			

Numbers in parentheses are standard deviations

*Same letters within the rows of each property are not significantly different at p < 0.05

Table 4.4 describes changes in soil chemical properties due to sheet pipe distances such as pH, EC and total CaCO₃ in two regions. Statistically, responses of soil pH, EC and total CaCO₃ installed by the sheet pipe were significantly different at 1% in Hisayama. However, the opposite results observed in Usa. Based on the uneven responses of pH, EC and total CaCO₃ due to sheet pipe installation in two regions, it was difficult to state as positive or negative impact. 0.003unit increment in soil pH produced by Hisayama, while that of 0.004unit decrease in USA from 2 m to center of the sheet pipe installed. Generally, the soil

pH of the two regions showed 6.4 in Hisayama and 6.7 in Usa. These values of ionic strength indicated optimum conditions for crop growth (USDA-NRC, 2017). For the salt load indicator, the patterns of EC were not similar in two regions. An increasing order of EC occurred in Hisayama from 2 m to above the center of the sheet pipe installed. The opposite pattern occurred in Usa. The presence of total carbonate was maximum at 2 m of the sheet pipe distance in paddy soil of Usa and center of that in Hisayama. The relationships between EC and total CaCO₃ in two regions were positively correlated (r = 0.82 and r = 0.30) (in Tables 4.2 and 4.3). In addition, positive correlations of log *Ks* and total CO₃ (r = 0.39, r = 0.44) and a negative correlation log *Ks* and SOC (r = -0.55, r = -0.34) occurred in two regions. These relations indicated that there was a dissolved salt and finer OM load due to water flow. Due to uneven responses of chemical soil properties in two regions, it could predict that the impacts of installation of the-sheet pipe from 2 m to the center were neither negative nor positive.

4.4 Discussion

In general, changes in soil physical properties from 2 m to the center of the installed perforated sheet pipe interacted with the soil hydraulic properties as well as the chemical soil properties measured in this study. SOC near the perforated sheet pipe accumulated as a nutrient load carried by preferential flow (low in -log *Ks*) in the presence of macropores or cracks (high in AC). Consequently, it resulted in a decrease in soil bulk density above the installed perforated sheet pipe. Under drained (tile) and undrained soils, there were no significant changes in soil bulk density and organic matter content (Jia *et al.*, 2008; Kumar *et al.*, 2014). However, there was an improvement in soil porosity (Kumar *et al.*, 2014). In this study, changes in BD and SOC contributed to increasing the porosity of paddy soils adjacent to the sheet pipe installed.

Enhancement of hydraulic conductivity in paddy soils due to the installation of sheet pipe was not comparable that of conventional (tile) drain because of different tillage management, cropping history and other conditions although similar effects such as improvement of gas diffusivity and air-filled capacity observed (Nakajima and Lal, 2013). In this study, the installation of sheet pipe changed the soil moisture conditions at field capacity, permanent wilting point and plant available moisture based on the sheet pipe distances. However, there were no significant changes in soil moisture under the study of conventional (tile) drained and undrained soils (Jia et al., 2008). Significant changes in MaP $(m^3 m^{-3})$ were observed in this study as well as in tile-drained soils. Other results of tile drain installation indicated the formation of soil cracks and enhancement of preferential flow (Cooley et al., 2013), conservation of sediment and nutrient loss (Hoorman and Shipitalo, 2006) and pollution for soil and water quality at downstream sites (VCWI, 2017). Consequently, it is suggested to investigate the sediment and nutrient loss and pollution in the drain volume by installing the perforated sheet pipe. The reason for total carbonate accumulation and high EC performance above the sheet pipe was likely to be forward water movement to the perforated sheet pipe. In addition, some of the finer organic matter with dissolved salt could probably be transported to the sheet pipe nearby. There, some soluble salt such as Na can drain easily and some salt such as CaCO₃ and MgCO₃ can be adsorbed by some soil pores or filtered by the perforated sheet pipe. As a consequence, it created neutral soil pH, much accumulation of SOC and total CaCO₃ at the sheet pipe nearby. Finally, greater aggregation of soil together with the progress of f(%) would probably promote soil aeration and water infiltration in turn. Mayer et al. (2004) explained one of the mechanisms in which mesopores could protect the loss of organic matter in sediments and soils by water transport throughout the soil profile. Although some literature documented contradictory effects of applying CaCO₃ or similar substances on soil water movement and aggregations, some field studies showed the major improvement of soil aeration (Wagenet and Jury, 1984; Mordhorst *et al.*, 2017). Under the conventional (tile) drain, special attention is given because some of the controlled water table by using tile drains affected the adjacent soils as a negative impact due to the accumulation of soluble salts or pollutants (Sug, 2007). In addition, misuse of soil and fertilizer management practices in subsurface tile-drained conditions potentially exaggerated the losses of nutrients in agricultural soils (Chatterjee, 2016). These results alert us the need to investigate the functioning of installed perforated sheet pipe and to consider the intensifying effect of EC in the long-term installation of sheet pipe.

4.5 Conclusion

Installation of the perforated sheet pipe for long term study provides some insights into changes on adjacent soil physical, hydraulic, and chemical properties. After a long-term installation of the sheet-pipe in two regions, there was an increase in soil organic carbon and total carbonate content near the sheetpipe that contributed to increase soil porosity, air-filled capacity, and reduced soil bulk density. Improvements in soil aggregation and macro-pores also observed above the sheet-pipe. Saturated hydraulic conductivity was high above the sheetpipe, whereas the plant available moisture was low. However, changes in soil pH and EC were variable at different places under the different wetting and drying cycles of paddy soils. In terms of stream site effect, changes in measured soil properties were not distinct. In sum, changes in soil properties after long-term installation were more significant according to the distance effect (nearness of the sheet-pipe), than according to the stream sites (from irrigation point to drainage out-let).

Chapter 5

General Conclusion and Future Recommendations

5.1 General Conclusions

This study was mostly conducted in paddy fields with different soil textures and locations. Firstly, we investigated the soil moisture characteristics and drainage functions under the installed sheet-pipe compared with the uninstalled ones at two places in Kagoshima. We observed that soil moisture fluctuations under two situations (with & without installed sheet-pipe) were different. Under the uninstalled ones, there was a prolonged water logging at 15 cm and 30 cm soil depths during conducting the field trials. From this study, it was known that the installed perforated-sheet-pipe was well functioned for drainage, and a change in soil water characteristic was a clue for further studies for soil property-changes that impacted by the installed sheet-pipe.

To identify the short-term impacts of the installed sheet-pipe, we conducted the second field experiment in Oita. The significant location of this study was a coastal lowland with sandy loam. When we compared the changes of soil physical and hydraulic properties for one cropping season after cultivation of the fodder rice, we could not identify that the short-term impact on changes in most soil properties, significantly. However, a significant increase in mesopores near the sheet-pipe at the deeper soil layers was observed (Chapter-3). One of the reasons of an increase in meso-pores in this study seemed to be development of small cracks and under a transition state of macro-pores which required frequent drying and wetting for several years.

To understand the long-term impacts of the installed sheet-pipe, we conducted the third experiment at Fukuoka and Oita. In terms of stream sites, sheet-pipe distances, and soil depths, we investigated the changes in some paddy and converted paddy soils properties. Some improvements in soil bulk density,

86

an increase in soil organic carbon, soil aggregation, macro-pores, soil porosity, and air-filled capacity were observed near the sheet-pipe (0 m distance and 25 cm soil depth). Saturated hydraulic conductivity was high above the sheet-pipe, whereas the plant available moisture was low. One of the reasons why these improvements occurred was the development of some cracks which favored much infiltration to the installed drains. More macro-pore development was a distinct impact by long term and these pores seemed to develop some cracks in clayey soils of this study. This was also a reason why plant available moisture was less at 0 m distance of the sheet-pipe. However, changes in soil chemical properties, such as pH, EC, and total carbonate were unstable regarding different stream sites, sheet-pipe distances, and soil depths (Chapter-4).

5.2 Future Recommendations

This research investigated only on the changes in paddy soil characteristics with the installed sheet-pipe. We studied these impacts with three approaches regarding different stream sites, distances from the sheet-pipe, and soil depths. However, observations of these impacts due to the sheet-pipe only were hard to say clearly because of interaction with some management practices and cropping conditions. As we studied in fields under the installed sheet-pipe, variations of soil characters were accompanied by crop growths. In actual fields, more cracks developed at the up-stream sites than the downstream sites. Plant heights of fodder in the downstream site were more than that of the upstream. However, these developments needed to clarify whether it was only due to the impacts of sheet-pipe or not. Our study is a beginner of agri-environmental scientific research for a drainage development under the shallow subsurface drain of perforated sheet-pipe. Thus, a wide scope of further study concerned with that related information is required to explore. From this research, it can recommend to study for the formation and development of cracks under the installed perforated sheet-pipe in paddy soils. As for the long term, benefits of the installed sheet-pipe on the environment, crop growth, differently managed soils are challenging for the development of drainage.

References

- Abdel-Dayam, S., Hoevenaars, J., Mollinga, P. P., Scheumann, W., Slootweg, R., van Steenbergen, F. (2004). Reclaiming drainage: Toward an integrated approach. Agriculture and rural development report 1: p.1-107.
- Abd-Elaty, I., Negm, A. M., Sallam, G. A. H. (2017) Environmental Impact Assessment of Subsurface Drainage Projects. In: Negm A. (eds) Unconventional Water Resources and Agriculture in Egypt. The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry, 75: 535 p. Springer, Switzerland. https://doi.org/10.1007/698_2017_123
- Alam, M. G. M., Allinson, G., Stagnitti, F., Tanaka, A. and Westbrooke, M. (2002) Arsenic Contamination in Bangladesh Groundwater: A Major Environmental and Social Disaster. *International Journal of Environmental Health Research*. 12: (13) p.235-253.
- Anwar, U., Schulte, L. A., Helmers, M., and Kolka, R. K. (2017) The Effect of Five Biomass Cropping Systems on Soil-Saturated Hydraulic Conductivity Across a Topographic Gradient. *Bio-Energy Research*, 10: (3) p.824-831. DOI:10.1007/s12155-017-9843-6
- Avil Kumar, K. and Rajitha, G. (2019); Alternate wetting and drying (AWD)
 Irrigation A Smart Water Saving Technology for Rice: A Review. *Int.J.Curr.Microbiol. App. Sci.* 8: (3) p. 2561-2571.
- Ayars, J. E., and Evans, R. G. (2015) Subsurface Drainage—What's Next?[†] *Irrig. and Drain.* 64: (3) p.378-392.
- Ayars, J. E. and Soppe, R. (2014) Integrated On-farm Drainage Management for Drainage Water Disposal. *Irrig and Drain*. 63: (1) p-101-111.
 DOI: 10.1002/ird.1771

- Bakri, B., Imanudin, M. S. and Bernas, S. M. (2015). Water Retention Option of Drainage System for Dry Season Corn Cultivation at Tidal Lowland Area. *AGRIVITA, J. of agriculture*. 37: (3) p.237-247.
- Ball, B., C., Scott, A. Parker. J, P. (1999)- Field N₂O, CO₂ and CH₄ Fluxes in Relation to Tillage, Compaction and Soil quality in Scotland. *J of Soil and Tillage Research*. 54: (3) -4 p.191-202.
- Bertora, C., Peyron, M., Pelissetti, S., Grignani, C., Sacco, D. (2018) Assessment of Methane and Nitrous Oxide Fluxes from Paddy Field by Means of Static Closed Chambers Maintaining Plants within Headspace. J. Vis. Exp. 139. e56754, doi:10.3791/56754
- Blann, K. L., Anderson, J. L., Sands, G. R. and Vondracek, B. (2009) Effects of Agricultural Drainage on Aquatic Ecosystems: A Review. In *Critical Reviews in Environmental Science and Technology*. 39: p.909-1001.
- Bouarfa, S., Lesaffre, B., Smedema, L., Zimmer, D. (1996) Drainage of Irrigated Land. In sustainability of irrigated agriculture, Pereira LS (ed.). ASI Series. NATO: Brussels, Belgium. p.323–341.
- Bouman, B. (2018) How Much Water Does Rice Use? In Rice Today.p.1-4. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/281474989_How_much_water __does_rice_use.
- Bouman, B. A. M. and Tuong, T. P. (2001) Field Water Management to Save
 Water and Increase Its Productivity in Irrigated Lowland Rice. *Agricultural Water Management*. 49: (1) p.11-30
- Bouman, B. A. M and Van Laar, H. (2006) Description and Evaluation of the Rice Growth Model ORYZA2000 under Nitrogen-limited Conditions. *Agric Syst.* 87: (3) p.249–273.
- Carrijo, D. R., Akbara, N., Reis, A. F. B., Li, C. Y., Gaudin, A. C. M., Parikh, S. J., Green, P. G., and Linquist, B. A. (2018) Impacts of Variable Soil Drying in Alternate Wetting and Drying Rice Systems on Yields, Grain Arsenic Concentration and Soil Moisture Dynamics. *Field Crops Research* 222: p.101–110.
- Cassman, K. G., Dobermann, A., and Walters, D. T. (2002) Agroecosystems, Nitrogen Use Efficiency, and Nitrogen Management. *AMBIO* 31: p.132– 140. http://dx.doi.org/10.1579/0044-7447-31.2.132
- Chahar, B. R. and Vadodaria, G. P. (2008) Steady Subsurface Drainage of Homogeneous Soils by Ditches. WM. 6: p.303-311. doi: 10.1680/wama.2008.161.6.303
- Chan, C. S. and Cheong, A.W. (2001) Subsurface Drainage Effect on Soil and Rice Crop. *J. Trop. Agric. and Fd. Sc.* 29: (2) p.177–187.
- Chatterjee, A. (2016) Soil and Fertilizer Management Practices to Control Nutrient Losses under Subsurface Tile-drained Conditions. In: Chatterjee, A., Clay, D. (eds) Soil fertility management in agroecosystems. ASA, CSSA, and SSSA, Madison, WI, p.124–133. https://doi.org/10.2134/soilfertility. 2014.0009
- Chaudhari, P. R., Ahire, D. V., Ahire, V. D., Chakravarty, M., and Maity, S. (2013) Soil Bulk Density as Related to Soil Texture, Organic Matter Content and Available Total Nutrients of Coimbatore soil. *Int J Sci Res* Publ. 3: (2) p.1–8. ISSN 2250-3153
- Cheng, W., Yagi, K., Akiyama, H., Nishimura, S., Sudo, S., Fumoto, T., Hasegawa, T., Hartley, A. E., and Megonigal, J. P., (2007) An Empirical Model of Soil Chemical Properties that Regulate Methane Production in

Japanese Rice Paddy Soils. J. Environ. Qual. 36: p.1920–1925. http://dx.doi.org/10.2134/jeq2007.0201

- Christen, E. W. and Ayars, J. E. (2001) Subsurface Drainage System Design and Management in Irrigated Agriculture; Best Management Practices for Reducing Drainage Volume and Salt Load. CSIRO *land and water*, Griffth NSW, Technical report 38: (01) p.1-39.
- Christen, E. W. and Hornbuckle, J. W. (2000) Subsurface Drainage Design and Management Practices in Irrigated Areas of Australia, *Irrigation Insights* 2: 180 p.
- Christen, E.W. and Skehan, D. (2001) Design and Management of Subsurface Horizontal Drainage to Reduce Salt Loads. *Journal of Irrigation and Drainage Engineering*.127: (3) p.148-155.
- Cockroft, B. and Olsson, K. A. (1997) Case Study of Soil Quality in Southeastern Australia: Management of Structure for Roots in Duplex soils. In: Gregorich EG, Carter MR (eds) Soil quality for crop production and ecosystem health. Developments in soil science. 25: Elsevier, New York, p.339–350.
- Colwell, H. T. M. (1978) The Economics of Increasing Crop Productivity in Ontario and Quebec by Tile Drainage Installation. *Can. Farm Econ.* 13: (3) p.1–7.
- Cooley, E. T., Ruark, M. D., and Panuska, J. C. (2013) Tile Drainage in Wisconsin: Managing Tile-drained Landscapes to Protect Nutrient Loss. Fact sheet 3: 8 p.
- Craft, K. J., Matthew J. Helmers, R.W. and Malone (2018) Effects of Subsurface Drainage Systems on Water and Nitrogen Footprints Simulated with

RZWQM2. *Transection of ASABE* 61: p. 245-261. DOI: 10.13031/trans.12300

- Daniel, M., Lemonsu, A., Déqué, M., Somot, S., Alias, A. and Masson, V. (2019)
 Benefits of Explicit Urban Parameterization in Regional Climate Modeling
 to Study Climate and City Interactions. *Clim. Dyn.*, 52: p. 2745-2764,
 10.1007/s00382-018-4289-x
- Daniele, D. W. (2003) Drainage Development in a Challenging Environment: Overview and Challenges. In: 9th international drainage workshop drainage for a secure environment and food supply, Netherland. p.37–38.
- de Fraiture, C. and Wichelns, D. (2010) Satisfying Future Water Demands for Agriculture. *Agricultural Water Management*. 97: (4) p. 502-511.
- de Hean, F. A. M. (1987) Pollution of Soil and Groundwater as the Result of High Manure Applications, IHE, Delft. 43 p.
- Dohnal, M., Dušek, J., Vogel, T., Císlerová, M., Lichner, Ľ., and Štekauerová, V. (2009) Ponded Infiltration into Soil with Biopores—Field Experiment and Modelling. *Biologia*. 64: p.580–584.
- Donnan, W.W. (1976) An Overview of Drainage Worldwide. In: Proceedings from the Third National Drainage Symposium, Chicago, Ill. ASAE, St. Joseph, MI. Pub. No. 1-77. p.6-9.
- Dörner, J. and Horn, R. (2006) Anisotropy of Pore Functions in Structured Stagnic Luvisols in the Weichselian Moraine Region in Northern Germany. *J. Plant Nutr. Soil Sci.* 169: p.213-220.
- Eigendbrod, K.D., (2003) Self-healing in Fractured Fine-grained Soils. *Canadian Geotechnical Journal*. 40: p.435-438.

- Eusufzai, M. K. and Fujii, K. (2012) Effect of Organic Matter Amendment on Hydraulic and Pore Characteristics of a Clay Loam Soil. *Open Journal of Soil Science*. 2: p.372-381. http://dx.doi.org/10.4236/ojss.2012.24044
- Fausey N. R. (2005) Drainage, Surface and Subsurface. In Encyclopedia of Soils in the Environment, *Reference Module in Earth Systems and Environmental Sciences*. Academic press. Elsevier. p.409-413.
- Fausey, N. R., Doering, E. J., and Palmer, M. L. (1987) Purpose and Benefits of Drainage. P-485 In Farm drainage in the United States: History, status and prospects. (G.A. Pavels, ed.) ERS. USDA, Pub.No.1455. Washington, D.C: ERS. USDA
- Francis, G. S. and Morton, J. D (1991) Effect of Gravel Mole Drainage on Soil Physical Properties and Pasture Production of a Gleyed Recent Soil, West Coast, South Island, New Zealand, New Zealand Journal of Agricultural Research, 34:3, 317-324, DOI:10.1080/00288233.1991.10417671
- Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, FAO, IFAD, UNICEF, WFP and WHO. (2020). The State of Food Security and Nutrition in the World 2020. Transforming food systems for affordable healthy diets. Rome, FAO. https://doi.org/10.4060/ca9692en
- Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, FAO. (2007)
 Guidelines and Computer Programs for the Planning and Design of Land
 Drainage Systems. (Edⁿ) W.H. van der Molen, J. Martínez Beltrán, W.J.
 Ochs. Irrigation and Drainage paper. 62: p.7-23.
- Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, FAO. (2006b) The State of Food Insecurity in the World. p.1-44. available at: http://www.wfp.org/aboutwfp/facts/hunger_facts.asp

- Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, FAO. (2006a) PlantNutrition for Food Security: A guide for Integrated Nutrient Management.FAO Fertilizer and Plant Nutrition Bulletin. 16: p.299-310.
- Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, FAO (1997). Management of Agricultural Drainage Water Quality. Organized by ICID, Rome. p.1-85, ISBN 92-5-104058-3
- Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, FAO (1995) Prospects for the Drainage of Clay Soils. Irrigation and drainage paper-51. Rome, Italy. 123 pp.ISBN 92-5-103624-1
- Fraser, H. and Fleming, R. (2001) Environmental Benefits of Tile Drainage -Literature Review - Environmental Science. p.1-25. Corpus ID: 14328215
- Geohring, L.D., Lee, S., Wright, P.E., Steenhuis, T.S., and Walter, M.F. (2005). Drainage Water Quality Response to Liquid Manure Application. Paper No. 05–2065. *Amer. Soc. of Ag. Eng.*, St. Joseph, MI. Google Scholar
- Gibson, G. (2014) Utilising Innovative Management Techniques to Reduce Waterlogging. Moama, NSW: Nuffield Australia Farming Scholars. 60 p.
- GIO, CGER, NIESR. (2018) National Greenhouse Gas Inventory Report of Japan. National Institute for Environmental Studies, Tsukuba, Japan.748 p.
- Granli, T. and Bøckman, O. C. (1994) Nitrous Oxide (N₂O) from Agriculture. In:
 Borin, M., Sattin, M. (Eds.), Third Congress of the European Society for
 Agronomy, Proceedings. *European Society Agronomy*, Colmar. p. 800–801.
- Greenland, D.J. 1977. Soil Damage by Intensive Arable Cultivation: Temporary or Permanent? Phil. Trans. Roy Soc. London, B, 281: p.193–208.

- Gupta, P. K., Sharma, C., Bhattacharya, S. and Mitra, A. (2002) Scientific Basis for Establishing Country Greenhouse Gas Estimates for Rice-based Agriculture: An Indian Case Study. *Nutrient Cycl. Agroecosyst.* 64: p.19–31.
- Hamblin, A. P. (1985) The Influence of Soil Structure on Water Movement, Crop Root Growth, and Water Uptake. *Adv Agron J.* p.38-95.
- Haynes, R. J. and Naidu, R. (1998) Influence of Lime, Fertilizer and Manure Applications on Soil Organic Matter Content and Soil Physical Conditions: A Review. *Nutr Cycl Agroecosyst.* 51: p.123–137
- Hillel, D. (2004) Introduction to Environmental Soil Physics. Elsevier Academic Press, Amsterdam. xvi+494 pp. ISBN 0-12-348655-6
- Hillel, D. (1998) Environmental Soil Physics: Fundamentals, Applications, and Environmental Considerations. Academic press.771 p.
- Hopkins, D. (2002) Managing Wet Soils: Mole Drainage. State of Victoria, Department of Primary Industries, Australia.AG0949: p.1-2.
- Horn, R. and Fleige, H. (2009) Risk Assessment of Subsoil Compaction for Arable Soils in Northwest Germany at Farm Scale. *Soil Till. Res.* 102: p.201-208.
- Horn, R., Domżżał, H., Jurkiewicz, A. S., and van Ouwerkerk, C. (1995) Soil Compaction Process and their Effects on the Structure of Arable Soils and the Environment. J. of Soil and Tillage Research. 35: (1)-2 p. 23-36.
- Hoorman, J. J. and Shipitalo, M. J. (2006) Subsurface Drainage and Liquid Manure. *J Soil Water Conserv.* 61: (3) p.94A–97A

- Huffman, R. L., Fangmeier, D. D., Elliot, W. J., Workman, S. R., (2013) Soil and Water Conservation Engineering, 7th ed. American Society of Agricultural and Biological Engineers. 528 p.
- Ibrahin, J., Arslan, A., and Hassen, N. (2008). The Effect of Regulating the Depth of Water Table by Mole Drainage on Soil Physical Properties and on Productivity of Potatoes on the Syrian Coast. *Tishreen University Journal for Research and Scientific Studies – Biological Sciences Series.* 30: (2) p.103-113.
- International Commission on Irrigation and Drainage, ICID. (2018) Agricultural Water Management for Sustainable Rural Development. Annual report 2018-19. New Delhi 110021, India. 98 p.
- International Commission on Irrigation and Drainage, ICID. (2014) International Cooperation in Agriculture Water Management. Annual Report 2013-14
- International Commission on Irrigation and Drainage (ICID). 1996. Multi-Lingual Technical Dictionary. New Delhi, India.1262 p.
- International Maize and Wheat Improvement Center- CIMMYT. (2003) Soil Aggregate Stability by Wet Sieving. A practical guide for comparing crop management practices. International Maize and Wheat Improvement Center (CIMMYT), Texcoco.7 p.
- IPCC, Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. (2019) Climate Change and Land: an IPCC Special Report on Climate Change, Desertification, Land Degradation, Sustainable Land Management, Food Security, and Greenhouse Gas Fluxes in Terrestrial Ecosystems [P.R. Shukla, J. Skea, E. Calvo Buendia, V. Masson-Delmotte, H.-O. Pörtner, D. C. Roberts, P. Zhai, R. Slade, S. Connors, R. van Diemen, M. Ferrat, E. Haughey, S. Luz, S.

Neogi, M. Pathak, J. Petzold, J. Portugal Pereira, P. Vyas, E. Huntley, K. Kissick, M. Belkacemi, J. Malley, (eds.)]. In Press.874 p.

- IPCC (2014) Climate Change 2014: Synthesis Report. Contribution of Working Groups I, II and III to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Core Writing Team, R.K. Pachauri and L.A. Meyer (eds.)]. IPCC, Geneva, Switzerland, 151 p.
- Itoh, M., Sudo, S., Mori, S., Saito, H., Yoshida, T., Shiratori, Y., Suga, S., Yoshikawa, N., Suzue, Y., Mizukami, H., Mochida, T., and Yagi, K. (2011) Mitigation of Methane Emissions from Paddy Fields by Prolonging Midseason Drainage. *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.* 141: p.359–372. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2011.03.019
- Iyyanki, V. M. and Manickam, V. (2017) Environmental Management: Science and Engineering for Industry. BSP: Books Pvt Ltd. Pub. Elsevier Inc. 664 pp. ISBN:978-0-12-811989
- Jabran, K., and Chauhan, B. S. (2015) Weed Management in Aerobic Rice Systems. *Crop Protection*. 78: p.151-163
- JASPiP, Japan Association of Sheet-Pipe Promotion. (2014) Automatic Water Supply (SPIDI System) *https://jaspip.jp/spidi/*
- Jia, X., Scherer, T. F., DeSutter, T. M., and Steele, D. D. (2008) Changes of Soil Hardness and Soil Properties due to Tile Drainage in the Red River Valley of the North. ASABE annual international meeting. Paper No. 084369.p.1-11.
- Jin, C. X., Sands, G. R., Kandel, H. J., Wiersma, J. H. and Hansen, B. J. (2008) Influence of Subsurface Drainage on Soil Temperature in a Cold Climate. *Journal of Irrigation and Drainage Engineering*. 34: (1) p.83-88.

- Johnson, G. (2018) Flooding, Waterlogged Soils and Effects on Vegetable Crops. Vegetable grower's news, May 28, 2018. https://vegetablegrowersnews.com/news/flooding-waterlogged-soils-andeffects-on-vegetable-crops/
- Jorjani, H. and van Vuuren, W. (1991) Physical and Economic Benefits of Subsurface Drainage by Soil Type in Eastern Ontario. Agricultual Water Management. 19: p.235-251.
- Josa, R., Gorchs, G., Ginovart, M., and Solé-Benet, A. (2013) Influence of Tillage on Soil Macropore Size, Shape of Top Layer and Crop Development in a Sub-Humid Environment. *Biologia*. 68: (6)-1. p.1099-1103.
- Kay, B. D. (1990) Rates of Change in Soil Structure under Difficult Cropping Systems. Adv Soil Sci. 12: p.1–52.
- Kay, B. D. (1998) Soil Structure and Organic Carbon: A Review. In: Lal R, Kimble J. M, Follett R. F., Stewart, B. A. (eds) Soil processes and the carbon cycle. CRC/Lewis Publishers, Boca Raton, p.169–197.
- Keiser, J., Utzinger, J., and Singer, B. H. (2002). The Potential of Intermittent Irrigation for Increasing Rice Yields, Lowering Water Consumption, Reducing Methane Emissions, and Controlling Malaria in African Rice Fields. *J Am Mosq Control Assoc.* 18: (4) p.329-40.
- Kemper, W. D. and Rosenau, R. C. (1987) Methods of Soil Analysis. Part 1.Physical and Mineralogical Methods: Agronomy monograph no. 9. 1173 p.American Society of Agronomy-Soil Science Society of America, Madison.
- Kenawey, M. A., Ghani, A. and Omara, M. A. (1997). Hydrological and Economic Impacts of Subsurface Drainage Systems in MIT. Kenana Pilot

Area. Paper presented at 7 th Int. Drainage Workshop. Drainage for the 21st Century. 17–21 Nov. 1997, Pulau Pinang, Malaysia. Organizer: MANCID.

- Khand, K., Kjaersgaard, J., Hay, C., and Jia, X. (2014) Estimating Evapotranspiration from Drained and Undrained Agricultural Fields using Remote Sensing. In Evapotranspiration: Challenges in measurement and modeling from leaf to the landscape scale and beyond. Conference Proceedings. Raleigh, North Carolina. *American Society of Agricultural and Biological Engineers*. 70: p.7-10.
- Kimura, M., Murase, J., and Lu, Y.H. (2004) Carbon Cycling in Rice Field Ecosystems in the Context of Input, Decomposition and Translocation of Organic Materials and the Fates of their End Products (CO₂ and CH₄). *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 36: p.1399–1416.
- Konyha, K., Skaggs, R. and Gilliam, J. (1992) Effects of Drainage and Water Management Practices on Hydrology. *Journal of Irrigation and Drainage Engineering*. 118: (5) p.807-819.
- Kumar, K. A. and Rajitha, G. (2019) Alternate Wetting and Drying (AWD)
 Irrigation A Smart Water Saving Technology for Rice: A Review. *Int.J. Curr. Microbiol. App.Sci.* 8: (3) p.2561-2571.
- Kumar, P., Liu, W., Chu, X., Zhang, Y., and Li, Z. (2019) Integrated Water Resources Management for an Inland River Basin in China. J. of Watershed Ecology and the Environment. 1: p. 33-38.
- Kumar, S., Nakajima, T., Mbonimpa, E. G., Gautam, S., Sombireddy, U. R., Kadono, A., Lal, R., Chintala, R., Rafique, R. and Fausey, R. (2014) Long Term Tillage and Drainage Influences on Soil Organic Dynamics, Aggregate Stability and Corn Yield. *Soil Sci Plant Nutr*, 60: p.108–118.

- Lal, R. and Shukla, M. K. (2004) Principles of Soil Physics. Marcel Dekker, New York.x+716 pp. ISBN 0-8247-5324-0.
- Leavesley, G. H., Branson, M. D. and Hay, L. E. (1992) Using Coupled Atmospheric and Hydrologic Models to Investigate the Effects of Climate Change in Mountainous Regions. American Water Resources Association Annual Conference and Symposium, Managing Water Resources During Global Change, Reno, Nevada, p. 691 – 700.
- Lindenmayer, D. B, Fischer, J., Felton, A., Crane, M., Michael, D., Macgregor, C., Montague-Drake, R., Manning, A. and Hobbs, R. J. (2007) Novel Ecosystems Resulting from Landscape Transformation Create Dilemmas for Modern Conservation Practice. *A J. of the Society of Conservation Biology*. 1: (3) p.129-135.
- Liu, S., Qin, Y., Zou, J. and Liu, Q. (2010) Effects of Water Regime during Rice-Growing Season on Annual Direct N₂O Emission in a Paddy Rice–Winter Wheat Rotation System in Southeast China. *Sci. Total Environ.* 408: p.906–913. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j. scitotenv.2009.11.002.
- Lopez, F. B. and Barclay G. F. (2017) Plant Anatomy and Physiology. In: McCreath SB, Delgoda R (eds) Pharmacognosy. Fundamentals, applications and strategies. Academic Press, New York, p.45–60.
- MacEwan, R. J. Crawford, D. M., Newton, P. J. and Clune, T. S. (1992) Tile and Mole Drainage for Control of Waterlogging in Duplex Soils of Southeastern Australia. *Australian Journal of Experimental Agriculture*. 32: (7) p.865 – 878.
- Madramootoo, C. A., Johnston, W. R., Ayars, J., E. and Fausey, N. R. (2007)
 Agricultural Drainage Management, Quality and Disposal Issues in North
 America. *Irrigation and Drainage*. 56(S1) p.35-45. DOI: 10.1002/ird.343

- Mallika, K., Ayyanagowdar, M.S., Polisgowdar, B. S., Satish Kumar, U., Ravi,
 M. V. and Nagaraj (2018). Effect of Sub-Surface Drainage System on Soil
 Chemical Properties and Yield of Rice Crop at Head Region of Tungabhadra
 Command Area. *Int.J. Curr. Microbiol. App.Sci.* 7: (10) p.1212-1220.
- Malyan, S. K., Bhatia, A., Kumar, A., Gupta, D. K., Singh, R., Kumar, S.S., Tomer, R., Kumar, O. and Jain, N. (2016) Methane Production, Oxidation and Mitigation: A Mechanistic Understanding and Comprehensive Evaluation of Influencing Factors. *Sci. Total Environ.* 572: p.874–896. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.07.182.
- Manitoba Research Report, MRR. (2016) Development of a Decision Support Tool for Economic Considerations of On-farm Surface Water. Subsurface as water management strategy: Adaptive, Economic and Environmental considerations. Portage La Prairie, MB. 21615.
- Margane, A., Schuler, P. and Koeniger, P. (2013) Hydrogeology of the Groundwater Contribution Zone of Jeita Spring. Report of German-Lebanese Technical Cooperation Project Protection of Jeita Spring. BGR-Archive No.131737. 299 p
- Mathew, E.K., Panda, R.K., and Madhusudan Nair. (2001) Influence of
 Subsurface Drainage on Crop Production and Soil Quality in a Low Lying
 Acid Sulphate Soil. *Agricultural Water Management*. 47: (3) p.191-209.
- Matsushima, S. (1970) Crop Science in Rice: Theory of Yield Determination and its Application. Tokyo: Fuji Publishing Co. Ltd.
- Mayer, L. M., Schich, L. L., Hardy, K. R., Wagai, R., and McCarthy, J. (2004)
 Organic Matter in Small Meso-pores in Sediments and Soils. *Geochim Cosmochim Acta*. 68: (19) p.3863–3872.

- Mikawa, M. K. and Sakai, N. (2005). The Effect of Water Management Based on Soil Redox Potential on Methane Emission from Two Kinds of Paddy Soils in Japan. *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.* 107: p.397–407. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2004.08.006.
- Moharram, S. H., Rashed, A. A., Abdel Dayem, M. S. and Sakla, S. S. (1999)
 Impacts of Subsurface Drainage System on Soil Salinity and Sodicity in
 Dakahlia, May Conference: The ASCE Middle East regional conference and
 2nd international symposium on environmental hydrology, Cairo, Egypt. V2.
- Mordhorst, A., Zimmermann, I., Fleige, H. and Horn, R. (2017) Changes in Soil Aeration and Soil Respiration of Simulated Grave Soils after Quicklime Application. *J Plant Nutr Soil Sci.* 180: p.153–164.
- Moret, D. and Arrue, J. L. (2007) Dynamics of Soil Hydraulic Properties during Fallow as Affected by Tillage. *Soil and Tillage Research*. 96: p.103-113.
- Muir, D. C. and B. E., Baker, (1976) Detection of Triazine Herbicides and their Degradation Products in Tile-drain Water from Fields under Intensive Corn (Maize) Production. *J of Agric. Food Chem.* 24: p.122-125.
- Muirhead, W. A., Humphreys, E., Jayawardane, N. S. and Moll, J. L. (1996)
 Shallow Subsurface Drainage in an Irrigated Vertisol with a Perched Water
 Table. *Agricultural Water Management*. 30: (3) p.261-282.
- Murashima, K. and Ogino, Y. (1994). Evaluation of Subsurface Drainage System
 for Excess Rainfall Design on Subsurface Drainage in Paddy Fields (ll) –
 University of Osaka Prefecture, *Series B*, 46: p.1994-1999.
- Nakajima, T. and Lal, R. (2013) Tillage and Drainage Management Effect on Soil Gas Diffusivity. *Soil Tillage Res.* 135: p.71–78.

Negishi, H. (1970). Underdrainage System in Paddy Field. JARQ. 5: 4 p.

- Nijland, H. J., Croon, F. W. and Ritzema, H. P. (2005). Subsurface Drainage Practices: Guidelines for the Implementation, Operation and Maintenance of Subsurface Pipe Drainage Systems. Wageningen, Alterra, ILRI Publication no. 60: 608 p
- Ogino, Y. and Murashima, K. (1993). Subsurface Drainage System of Large Size Paddies for Crop Diversification in Japan. Paper presented at Int. Commission on Irrigation and Drainage. Fifteenth congress. The Hague 1993. Organizer: ICID
- Ogino, Y. and Ota, S. (2007) The Evolution of Japan's Rice Field Drainage and Development of Technology. *Irrig. and Drain.* 56: p. S69–S80. Published online in Wiley InterScience (www.interscience.wiley.com) DOI: 10.1002/ird.371
- Okamoto, M. (1997) Drainage in Japan. Country report in the 7th Int. Drainage Workshop. Drainage for the 21st Century. Pulau Pinang, Malaysia. Organizer: MANCID. p.17–21.
- Okawany, R.O., Prathapar, S., Bastakoti, R. C. and Mondal, M. K. (2016)
 Shallow Subsurface Drainage for managing Seasonal Flooding in Ganges
 Floodplain, Bangladesh. *Irri. and Drain.* 12 pp DOI:10.1002/ird.1990
- Okuda, Y., Omori, K. and Onishi, J. (2017) Technical Manual on Building a Low Cost, shallow subsurface Drainage System for Mitigating Salinization. Research Highlight. *JARCAS*. A03.2 p
- Oliveira, R. A, Ramos, M. M. and de Aquino, L. A. (2015) Irrigation Management. In: Santos F, Borem A, Caldas C (eds) Sugarcane. Elsevier, Amsterdam. p.161–183.

- Oosterbaan, R. J. (2002) Subsurface Drainage. https://www.waterlog.info/ available on 3.3.2020
- Oosterbaan, R. J. (2017) Agricultural Drainage Criteria. Chapter 17 in: H.P.Ritzema (Ed.), Drainage Principles and Applications. International Institute for Land Reclamation and Improvement (ILRI), Publication 16, second revised edition, 1994, Wageningen, The Netherlands. ISBN 90 70754 339 https://www.waterlog.info public domain, latest upload 20-11-2017
- Osunbitan, J. A., Oyedele, D. J. and Adekalu, K. O. (2005) Tillage Effects on Bulk density, Hydraulic Conductivity and Strength of a Loamy Sand soil in Southwestern Nigeria. *Soil and Tillage Research*. 82: p.57-64.
- Parsinejadi, M. and Akram, M. (2018). A fresh Look at the Drainage for Agriculture. *J. of Irrigation and Drainage*. 67: (Suppl-2) p.8-16.
- Pandey, A., Vu, D. Q., Bui, T. P. L., Mai, T. L. A., Jensen, L. S. and de Neergaard, A. (2014) Organic Matter and Water Management Strategies to Reduce Methane and Nitrous Oxide Emissions from Rice Paddies in Vietnam. *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.* 196: p.137–146.
- Phene, C. J., Hutmacher, R.B., Ayars, J. E., Davis, K. R., Mead, R. M. and Schoneman, R. A. (1992) Maximizing Water Use Efficiency with Sub-Surface Drip Irrigation. International Summer Meeting, Charlotte. 20 p
- Plamenac, N. (1988) Effects of Subsurface Drainage on Heavy Hydromorphic Soil in the Nelindvor Area, Yugoslavia. *Agricultural Water Management*. 14: (1)-4 p.19-27.
- Ponnamperuma, F. N. (1972) The Chemistry of Submerged Soils. *Advances in Agronomy*. 24: p.29-96. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0065-2113(08)60633-1

- Ransom. J. and Mattern, R. (2011) Flooding/Waterlogging Will Affect Crop Development. NDSU Agriculture Communication. Newsleases. https://www.ag.ndsu.edu/news/newsreleases/2011/may-30-2011/floodingwaterlogging-will-affect-crop-development/
- Reinhart, B., Frankenberger, J., Abendroth, L., Ahiablame, L., Bowling, L., Brown, L., Helmers, M., Jaynes, D., Jia, X., Kladivko, E., Nelson, K., Strock, J. and Youssef. M. (2016) Drainage Water Storage for Improved Resiliency and Environmental Performance of Agricultural Landscapes. 10th International Drainage Symposium Conference, 6-9 September 2016, Minneapolis, Minnesota. Paper Number: 162557416. 10 pp. American Society of Agricultural and Biological Engineers, St. Joseph, Michigan. www.asabe.org. doi:10.13031/IDS.20162557416.
- Rezaei, M., Vahed, H. S., Amiri, E., Motamed, M. K. and Azarpour, E. (2009)
 The Effect of Irrigation and Nitrogen Management on Yield and Water
 Productivity of Rice. *World Applied Science Journal*. 7: (2) p.203-210.
- Rijal, I., Jia, X., Zhang, X., Steele, D. D., Scherer, T. F. and Akyuz, A. (2012)
 Effects of Subsurface Drainage on Evapotranspiration for Corn and
 Soybean Crops in Southeastern North Dakota. *J. Irrig. Drain. Eng.* 138:
 p.1060–1067.
- Ritzema, H. P. (Editor in Chief) (2006) Drainage Principles and Application. ILRI publication. Wageningen, Alterra. 1125 p
- Ritzema, R., Frelat, R. and Douxchamps, S. *et al.* (2017) Is the Production Intensifiaction Likely to Make Farm Households Food Adequate? A Simple Food Availability Analysis across Small Holder Farming Systems from East and West Africa. *Food Security.* 9:1. p.115-131. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12571-016-0638-y

106

- Ritzema, H. P., Nijland, H. J. and Croon, F. W. (2006). Subsurface Drainage Practices: from Manual Installation to Large-scale Implementation. *Agricultural Water Management*. 86: p.60–71. DOI:10.1016/ j.agwat. 2006.06.026.
- Ritzema, H. P., Wolters, W., Bhuttas, M. N., Gupta, K. and Abdel-Dayem, S. (2007). The Added Value of Research on Drainage. *Irrig. and Drain*. 56: p. S205–S215. DOI: 10.1002/ird.337
- Ritzema, H. P., Satyanarayana, T. V., Raman, S., Boonstra, J. (2008) Subsurface
 Drainage to Combat Waterlogging and Salinity in Irrigated Lands in India:
 Lessons learned in farmers' fields. Agric. Water Manag. 95: p.179–189.
- Robertson, G. P. and Groffman, P. M. (2007) Nitrogen Transformations. In: Paul EA (ed) Soil microbiology, ecology, and biochemistry. Academic Press, Burlington, p.341–364.
- Robinson, M. (1990) Impact of Improved Land Drainage on River Flows. Institute of Hydrology. 25 p.
- Rowell, D. L. (1994) Soil Science: Methods and Applications. Routledge, Taylor and Francis group, New York. x+350 pp. ISBN 0-592-087848.
- Sallam, G. and Ismail, A. M. (2012) Subsurface Drainage Impacts on the Environment in Egypt, in: 11th International Drainage Workshop on Agricultural Drainage Needs and Future Priorities, Cairo, Egypt.
- Sands, G. (2001) Agricultural Drainage: Soil Water Concepts. University of Minnesota Extension Publication Number 76441. 84 p.
- Scheffer, F. and Schachtschabel, P. (2002) Textbook of Soil Science. 15th edition, Spektrum Akademischer Verlag, Berlin, 593 p.

- Scheumann, W. and Freisem, C. (2002) The Role of Drainage for Sustainable Agriculture. *J Appl Irrig Sci.* 37: (1) p.33–61.
- Schultz, B. (2001) Irrigation, Drainage, and Flood Protection in a Rapidly Changing World. *Irrig. and Drain.* 50: p.261–277. DOI: 10.1002/ird.35
- Schultz, B. and Wrachien, D. D. (2002) Irrigation and Drainage Research and Developmentin the 21st century. *Irrig. and Drain.* 51: p311-327. Published online in Wiley InterScience (www.interscience.wiley.com). DOI: 10.1002/ird.67
- Schultz, B., Thatte, C. D. and Labhsetwar, V. K. (2015) Irrigation and Main Contributors to Global Food Production. *Irrig. and Drain.* 54: p.263–278
- Schultz, B., Thatte C. D. and Labhsetwar, V. K. (2005). Irrigation and Drainage.
 Main Contributors to Global Food Production. *Irrigation and Drainage*. 54:
 (3) p.263–278.
- Schultz, B., Tardieu, H. and Vidal, A. (2009) Role of Water Management for Global Food Production and Poverty Alleviation. *Irrig. and Drain.* 58: S3– S21. DOI: 10.1002/ird.480
- Schultz, B, Zimmer, D. and Vlotman, W. F. (2007) Drainage under Increasing and Changing Requirements. *Irrig and Drain*. 56: p.S3–S22.Wiley InterScience. DOI: 10.1002/ird372
- Schultz, E. (2003) Irrigation and Drainage. Present and Potential Role in Food Production and Sustainable Rural Development. In Proceedings Water Week, The World Bank, 4–6 March 2003, Washington, DC. p.345-374.
- Schumacher, B. A. (2002) Methods for the Determination of Total Organic Carbon in Soils and Sediments. National Exposure Research Laboratory,

Office of Research and Development (ORD). EMASC-001. USEPA, Las Vegas. 26 p.

- Schwab, G. O., Fausey, N. R., Desmond, E. D. and Holman, J. R. (1985) Tile and Surface Drainage of Clay Soils. *Research Bulletin*, 1166, p.1-29.
- Scott, H. D. (2000) Soil Physics: Agricultural and Environmental Applications. Iowa state university press. x+421 p.
- Setiawan, B. I., Saptomo, S. K., Arif, C., Sulaiman, A. A., Herodian, S., Matsuda, H., Tamura, K. and Inoue, Y. (2019) Water Flow in the Paddy Field Installed with Sheet Pipe Mole Drains. IOP Conf. Ser. 355.: 12 p. *Earth Environ.* Sci. 355 012077
- Siaga, E., Lakitan, B., Hasbi, H., Bernas, S. M., Widuri, L. I. and Kartika, K. (2019) Floating Seedbed for Preparing Rice Seedlings under Unpredictable Flooding Occurrence at Tropical Riparian Wetland. *Bulgarian Journal of Agricultural Science*. 25: (2) p.326–336.
- Simundsson, A., Grieger, L. and Chorney, H. (2016) Development of a Decision-Support Tool for Economic Considerations of On-farm Surface Water. In: Subsurface drainage as a water management strategy: adaptive, economic, and environmental considerations. Research report. PAMI. Canada. 79 p.
- Singh, S., Ladha, J. K., Gupta, R. K., Bhushan, L. and Rao, A. N. (2008) Weed Management in Aerobic Rice Systems under Varying Establishment Methods. *Crop Protection*. 27: p.660–671.
- Skaggs, R. W. (1996) Hydrology and Drainage Water Quality in North Carolina, Coastal Plain. In solution a technical conference on water quality: p.48-52. North Carolina state university, Raleigh, N.C.

- Skaggs, R. W. (1980) Combination Surface-Subsurface Drainage Systems for Humid Regions. *Journal of Irrigation and Drainage Division, ASCE*. 106: (IR4) p.265-283.
- Skaggs, R. W., Breve, M. A. and Gilliam, J. W. (1994) Hydrologic and Water Quality Impact of Agricultural Drainage. Critical Reviews in Environmental Science and Technology. 24: (1) p.1-32.
- Skaggs, R. W., Hardjoamidjojo, S., Wiser, E.H., and Hiler, E. A. (1982 a). Simulation of Crop Response to Surface and Subsurface Drainage Systems. *Trans. ASAE.* 25: (6) p.1673-1678.
- Skaggs, R. W., Nassehzadeh-Tabrizi, A. and Foster, G. R. (1982) Subsurface
 Drainage Effects on Erosion. *Journal of Soil and Water Conservation*. 37:
 (3) p.167-172.
- Skinner, C., Gattinger, A., Muller, A., M\u00e4der, P., Flie\u00f3bach, A., Stolze, M., Ruser, R. and Niggli, U. (2014) Greenhouse Gas Fluxes from Agricultural Soils under Organic and Non-Organic Management—A Global Meta-Analysis. *Sci. Total Environ.* 468: p.553–563.
- Smedema, L. K. (2007) Revisiting Currently Applied Pipe Drain Depths for Waterlogging and Salinity Control of Irrigated Land in the (semi) Arid Zone. *Irrig. and Drain.* 56: (4) p.379–387. DOI: 10.1002/ird.325.
- Smedema, L. K. (2000) Global Drainage Needs and Challenges. The Role of Drainage in Today's World. In Proceedings of the 8th International Workshop on Drainage, New Delhi, India. p.1-18 ref.12
- Smedema, L. K, Abdel-Dayem, S. and Ochs, W. J. (2000) Drainage and Agricultural Development. *Irrigation and Drainage Systems*. 14: (3) p.223-235.

- Smedema, L. K. and Ochs, W. J. (1998) Needs and Prospects for Improved Drainage in Developing Countries. *Irrigation and Drainage Systems*. 12: (4) p.359-369.
- Smedema, L.K., Vlotman, W. F. and Rycroft, D.W. (2004) Modern Land Drainage: Planning, Design and Management of Agricultural Drainage Systems. Abingdon, GB. CRC Press, 449 p.
- Stata-15 (2017) Statistics/Data analysis software. StataCorp LLC, Texas, USA
- Stillman, J. S., Haws, N. W., Govindaraju, R. and Rao, P. S. C. (2006) A Semi-Analytical Model for Transient Flow to a Subsurface Tile Drain. *Journal* of Hydrology. 317: (1) p.49-62.
- Strock, J. and Dalzell, B. (2014) Understanding Water Needs of Diverse, Multyear Crop Rotations.Resilient Agriculture. p.18-19.
- Strock, J., Sands, G. and Helmers, M. (2011) Subsurface Drainage Design and Management to Meet Agronomic and Environmental Goals. In J. Hatfield, & T. Sauer, *Soil Management: Building a Stable Base for Agriculture* (pp. 199-208). Madison, WI: American Society of Agronomy.
- Sug, Z. (2007) Assessing U.S Farm Drainage: Can GIS Lead to Better Estimates of Subsurface Drainage Extent? World water institute. Washington, DC. 8 pp. ISBN 978-1-56973-665-4
- Swarowsky, A., Dahlgren, R.A., Tate, K.W., Hopmans, J.W. and O'Geen, A.T. (2011) Catchment-Scale Soil Water Dynamics in a Mediterranean-Type Oak Woodland. *Vadose Zone Journal*. 10: (3) P.800-815 https://doi.org/10.2136/vzj2010.0126

- Tabuchi, T. (1985) Underdrainage of Lowland Rice Fields. In: Soil physics and rice. International Rice Research Institute. Los Banos, The Philippines. p.147-160.
- Tabuchi, T. (1968) Studies on Drainage in Clayey Paddy Fields [in Japanese with English abstract]. 8. *Trans. JSIDRE*. 25: p.50–56.
- Talukolaee, M. J., Naftchali, A. D., Parvariji, L. Z. and Ahmadi, M. Z. (2018) Investigating Long-Term Effects of Subsurface Drainage on Soil Structure in Paddy Fields. *Soil & Tillage Research*. 177: p.155–160.
- Tariq, A., Jensen, L. S., de Tourdonnet, S., Sander, B.O. and de Neergaard, A. (2017 a) Early Drainage Mitigates Methane and Nitrous Oxide Emissions from Organically Amended Paddy Soils. *Geoderma*, 304: p. 49-58.
- Tariq, A., Vu, Q. D., Jensen, L. S., Tourdonnet, S., Sander, B. O., Wassmann, R., Mai, T. V. and Neergaard, A. (2017 b) Mitigating CH₄ and N₂O Emissions from Intensive Rice Production Systems in Northern Vietnam: Efficiency of Drainage Patterns in Combination with Rice Residue Incorporation. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment.* 249: p.101-111.
- Tayagi, A. C. (2012) Research Agenda for Water and Food Security. *Irrig. and Drain.* 61: (3) p.425-426.
- Tayagi, L., Kumari, B. and Singh, S., (2010) Water management A Tool for Methane Mitigation from Irrigated Paddy Fields. *Sci. Total Environ.* 408: p.1085–1090.
- Tisdall, J. M. and Oades, J. (1982) Organic Matter and Water Stable Aggregates in Soils. *J Soil Sci.* 33: p.141–163.

- Tiwari, P. and Goel, A. (2017) An Overview of Impact of Subsurface Drainage Project Studies on Salinity Management in Developing countries. *Appl. Water Sci.*, 7: p. 569–580.
- Toriyama, K. (2002) Estimation of Fertilizer Nitrogen Requirement for Average Rice Yield in Japanese Paddy Fields. *Soil Sci. Plant Nutr.* 48: p.293–300. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/00380768.2002.10409204.
- Tuohy, P., Humphreys, J., Holden, N. M. and Fenton, O. (2016). Runoff and Subsurface Drain Response from Mole and Gravel Mole Drainage across Episodic Rainfall Events. Agric. Water Mgmt., 169: p.129-139. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.agwat.2016.02.020
- Tuohy, P., Humphreys, J., Holden, N. and Fenton, O. (2015). Mole Drainage Performance in a Clay Loam Soil. NJF Congress: Nordic view to sustainable rural development, (Riga: NJF). 214 pp. ISBN: 978-9934-14-548-3
- United Nation, UN-Water (2019) Climate Change and Water. Un-water policy brief. Geneva, UN-Water. www.unwater.org/publications/un-water-policy-brief-on-climate-change-and-water/
- United Nation-World Food Program, UN-WFP (2018). Zero Hunger. https://www.wfp.org/zero-hunger
- United Nations Environment Program, UNEP. (2016) Programme of Work and Budget for the Biennium 2018–2019. Report of the Executive Director. EA.2/169 p.
- UNEP/UNEP-DHI Partnership/IUCN/TNC/WRI (United Nations Environment Programme/UNEP-DHI Partnership/International Union for Conservation of Nature/The Nature Conservancy/World Resources Institute). (2014) Green Infrastructure Guide for Water management: Ecosystem-based

Management Approaches for Water-related Infrastructure Projects. https://www.unepdhi.org/media/microsite_unepdhi/publications/document s/unep/web-unep-dhigroup-green-infrastructure-guide-en-20140814.pdf.

- United State Department of Agriculture, National Resource Conservation Service, USDA-NRCS. (2001) Water Management: Drainage. National Engineering Hand Book. Engineering Field Hand Book. Part 650. 210-VI-NEH.
- USDA-NRCS (1999) Soil Taxonomy: Basic System of Soil Classification for Making and Interpreting Soil Surveys. Second Edition by soil survey staff. Agricultural hand book. No.436. 886 p.
- Vermont Clean Water Initiatives, VSWI (2017) Vermont Subsurface Agricultural Tile Drainage Report. Vermont agency of agriculture, food and markets and the vermont agency of natural resources. 20 pp. https://agric ultur e.vermo nt.gov/sites /agric ultur e/files /docum ents/ Vermo nt-Subsu rface -Agric ultur al-Tile-Drain -Repor t-01312 017. pd_.pdf. Accessed 31 Jan 2017
- Vopravil, J., Khel1, T., Vráblík, P. and Vráblíková, J. (2017) Changes in Physical and Chemical Soil Characteristics as a Result of Subsurface Tile Drainage. *Open Journal of Soil Science*. 7: p.367-377.
- Wagenet, R. J. and Jury, W. A. (1984) Movement and Accumulation of Salts in Soils. In: Shainberg I, Shalhevet J (eds) Soil salinity under irrigation. Ecological studies (analysis and synthesis), 51: p.100-129. Springer, Berlin.
- Wang, J., Jia, J., Xiong, Z., Khalil, M. and Xing, G., (2011) Water Regime– Nitrogen Fertilizer– Straw Incorporation Interaction: Field Study on Nitrous Oxide Emissions from a Rice Agroecosystem in Nanjing, China. *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.* 141: p.437–446.

- Wanninger, R. (1999). Socio-Economic Effects of Water Pollution in the Danue River Basin: Danue Pollution Reduction Programme Summary Report.108 pp. Program Coordination Unit UNDP/GEF Assistance
- Wassmann, R., Papen, H. and Rennenberg, H. (1993) Methane Emission from Rice Paddies and Possible Mitigation Strategies. *Chemosphere* 26: p.201– 217.
- Watanabe, T. (2016) How Irrigation and Drainage Play an Important Role in Climate Change Adaptation. *Irrigation and Drainage*. 65: p.189–196.
- Welage, D., Mitchell, K. and Kladivko, E. J. (2019) Long-Term Subsurface Drainage Effects on Physical and Hydraulic Properties of Soil. ASA-CSSA-SSSA International Annual Meeting | Nov. 10-13 | San Antonio, Texas. https://scisoc.confex.com/scisoc/2019am/meetingapp.cgi/Paper/120035
- Wesström, I. and Joel, A. (2008) Long-Term Effects of Tile Drainage on Soil Physical Properties and Crop Yields. *Proceeding of the 10th International Workshop of ICID working group on Drainage*. Helsinki/Tallinn 6-11. p.125-133.
- White, R. E. (1985) The Influence of Macro-pores on the Transport of Dissolved and Suspended Matter through Soil. In: Stewart BA (ed) Advances in soil science. *advances in soil science*. 3: p.95-120. Springer, New York.
- Woltemade, C. J. (2000) Ability of Restored Wetlands to Reduce Nitrogen and Phosphorus Concentrations in Agricultural Drainage Water. *Journal of Soil* and Water Conservation, 3: p.303-309.
- World Commission on Dams, WCD. (2000) Dams and development: A New Frame Work for Decision Making. Pub. 20 pp. Earthscan. Londaon and Streling, VA.

- World Irrigation Forum-2 (2016) Water Management in a Changing World: Role of Irrigation for Sustainable Food Production. *International Commission on Irrigation and Drainage (ICID)* ISbN: 978-81-89610-23-4
- World Water Council, WWC. (2018) Water security, Sustainability and Resilience: WWC strategy 2019-2021. www.worldwatercouncil.org
- Wrachien, D. D. and Fasso, C. A. (2002). Conjunctive Use of Surface and Ground Water: Overview and Perspective. *Irrig. and Drain.* 51: p.1–15. DOI: 10.1002/ird.43
- Wrachien, D. and Feddes, R. (2004) Global Warming and Drainage
 Development: Perspective and Challenges. *Irrig. and Drain.* 53: p.215–224.
 DOI: 10.1002/ird.118
- Wright, J. and Sands, G. (2001). Planning an Agricultural Subsurface Drainage System. *Agricultural Drainage Publication Series*. p.1-8.
- Xian, C., Qi, Z., Tan, C. S. and Zhang, T. Q. (2017). Modeling Hourly Subsurface Drainage Using Steady-State and Transient Methods. *J. Hydrol.* 550: p.516– 526. doi: 10.1016/j.jhydrol.2017.05.016
- Yan, X., Yagi, K., Akiyama, H. and Akimoto, H. (2005) Statistical Analysis of the Major Variables Controlling Methane Emission from Rice Fields. *Global Change Biol.* 11: p.1131–1141. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2005.00976.x.
- Yang, J. and Zhang, J. (2010) Crop Management Techniques to Enhance Harvest Index in Rice. *Journal of Experimental Botany*. 61: p.3177–3189.
- Yang, J. C., Zhou, Q. and Zhang, J. H. (2017). Moderate Wetting and Drying Increases Rice Yield and Reduces Water Use, Grain Arsenic Level, and Methane Emission. *The Crop Journal*.5: (2) p.151-158.

- Yang, X. M., Drury, C. F., Zhang, T. Q. and Tan, C. S. (2003) Effects of Selected Conditioners and Tillage on the Physical Quality of a Clay Loam Soil. *Can J Soil Sci.* 83: p.381–393.
- Yang, Y., Anderson, M., Gao, F., Hain, C., Kustas, W., Meyers, T., Crow, W., Finocchiaro, R., Sun, L. and Yang, Y. (2017) Impact of Tile Drainage on Evapotranspiration in South Dakota, USA, Based on High Spatiotemporal Resolution Evapotranspiration Time Series from a Multisatellite Data Fusion System. *IEEE J.-STARS*, 10: p.2550–2564.
- Zheng, X., Wang, M., Wang, Y., Shen, R. and Li, J., (2000) Mitigation options on Greenhouse Gas (CH₄, N₂O, NO) Emissions from Cropland. *Adv. Atmos. Sci.* 17: p.83–92.
- Zimmer, D., Bermond, M., Melliand, M. L. and Tato-Serrano, S. (2005) Internal Paper on the Status of Drainage Up to 2005. 43 p. CEMAGREF, Water and Environmental Engineering Department, Antony, France.

Appendix

Index Table 1. Investigating the effect of sheet-pipe installation on changing soil properties using ANOVA (F-test/t-test)

Significance	Soil properties					
_	BD -3	OM	-log Ks	MeP 3 -3	MaP 3 -3	PAM 3 -3
	(g cm)	(%)	(cm s)	(cm cm)	(cm cm)	(cm cm)
P _C						
(Before & After)	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01
(N=27 &81)						
$P_{SP}(After; N=27)$	>0.05	>0.05	>0.05	< 0.05	>0.05	>0.05
$P_{ss}(After; N=27)$	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.05	>0.05	< 0.01	< 0.05
$P_{SD}(After; N=27)$	< 0.01	< 0.01	>0.05	< 0.01	>0.05	< 0.05
P _(SPXSS)	>0.05	>0.05	>0.05	>0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
P (SPxSD)	>0.05	>0.05	>0.05	>0.05	>0.05	>0.05
$P_{(SSx SD)}$	>0.05	< 0.05	>0.05	>0.05	< 0.01	>0.05
P _(SPxSSSxSD)	>0.05	>0.05	>0.05	>0.05	>0.05	>0.05

BD= bulk density; OM=soil organic matter; -log Ks= saturated hydraulic conductivity; MeP=mesopores; MaP=macropores; PAM=plant available moisture

After=after rice cultivation

- Pc<0.01 means that changes in soil properties during a rice cropping are statistically highly significant at P<0.01.
- $P_{SP} < 0.05$ means that changes in soil properties regarding distances from the sheet-pipe are statistically significant at P<0.05.
- $P_{SS} < 0.01$ means that changes in soil properties under different stream sites are highly statistically significant at P<0.01.
- $P_{SD} < 0.01$ means that changes in soil properties at different soil depths shows highly statistically significant at P<0.01.

 $P_{(SPXSS)} > 0.05$ means there was not interaction between two factors sheet-pipe distance & stream site.

 $P_{(SPXSS)} < 0.05$ means there was an interaction effect between two factors sheet-pipe distance & stream site.

 $P_{(SPXSSD} > 0.05$ means there was no interaction between two factors sheet-pipe distance & soil depth.

 $P_{(SPXSSXSD)} > 0.05$ means there was no interaction effect between three factors sheet-pipe distance, stream site & soil depth.

Before= before rice cultivation



Index Figure.1 Meteorological condition from 1st to 2nd soil sampling in Takedatsu, Kunisaki, Oita (MAJ, 2018)

Index Photos Section



Soil Profile at 1st soil sampling



Soil Profile at 2nd soil sampling

Kunisaki, Oita Study





Isashi-Hishikarishimode, Kagoshima



Kitakata, Kagoshima



Soil Sampling at Hisayama, Fukuoka



Infiltration Test at Usa, Oita



A visit to Research Institute, Usa before conducting an experiment





A visit to Hisayama before Conducting an experiment



Determination of surface cracks



Determination of soil water characteristic curve using hanging column method



Determination of soil water characteristic curve using Centrifuge Method





Determination of cracks



Investigation of moisture sensors and Data-logger's function before application in field measurement



 $\mathbf{1}^{st}$ soil Sampling and field determination at Takedatsu



 2^{nd} soil sampling and field determination at Takedatsu